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This book is most humbly and respectfully dedicated to all the gunmakers of England, Scotland and Wales past and present, and also to their craftsmen whose names are often unrecorded but whose finest epitaph is to be found in the hands of sportsmen worldwide.
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Just a quick check up … ok?



Cartoon: Bryn Parry 

























Foreword





The museum curator soon learns that, if he is to keep his reputation for erudition intact, then there are certain works of reference that must be read assiduously and thereafter kept readily to hand. Among those few that, having been absorbed with much interest and having contributed considerably to this reader’s store of knowledge, continue to demand the closest proximity has been Nigel Brown’s London Gunmakers recently reprinted as British Gunmakers Volume 1. Its success both as a source of pleasure to those who love fine arms and an authoritative, comprehensive work of reference has encouraged Nigel to the even more daunting challenge of researching and recording the trade beyond London.


Nigel’s books have stemmed from four decades association with the gun trade, which has afforded him an unparalleled opportunity for original research by exploring the oral history of gunmaking as well as the documentary records of what is now, sadly, a craft whose numbers are in decline. As a shooting man, he has a strong understanding not only of the technology of the firearm but of how a combination of perfect fitness for purpose combined with the highest standard of craftsmanship can engender a deep aesthetic appreciation among those who own, use and collect sporting guns and rifles. This combination ensures a most satisfying read.


For those occasions when specific information must be readily and rapidly retrieved, British Gunmakers Volume 2 makes all clear. Its systematic arrangement, with specific sections on patents and on the brand names so beloved of late 19th and early 20th Century manufacturers, is so easy to use that its virtues are only fully appreciated when the reader has cause to compare it to other, less well worked through, works of reference.


The second volume of British Gunmakers will not only fulfil the expectations of Nigel’s existing readership, but, taken together, the two volumes will provide an outstandingly accessible work of reference not only for the existing student of arms but for those whose interest in guns is just beginning and for anyone with a broad interest in the history of manufacture and craftsmanship in Britain.


David Penn                  


The Keeper of the        


Department of         


Exhibits and            


Firearms                  


Imperial War Museum


1970–2005                   



















Author’s foreword





When I first put pen to paper in 1991 to produce London Gunmakers (recently reprinted as British Gunmakers Volume 1 – London), it was intended to be a one-off effort. As I gathered research and other data for it I also started gathering similar information about the Birmingham, Scottish, Welsh and other provincial gunmakers wherever I could find it on my travels round the country. As I accumulated details of records or other historical facts I had the original intention of setting out another volume containing just the gunmakers’ records that had survived. Sadly, so many have not. Those of McCririck in Kilmarnock and Hinton in Taunton for example were cleared out and then thrown away in rubbish skips in each case only about eighteen months before I was able to track them down. This kind of loss spurred me to try and save or at least obtain outline dating systems, copies or other available details of as many records as possible whilst they were still in existence and to start recreating evidence of lost or forgotten ones by examining as many surviving weapons as possible to re-establish numerical patterns. The auction houses acknowledged at the front of this book have been particularly helpful in rendering me assistance in this regard and as a result I am now building up banks of data on many of the smaller makers, or those long gone out of business. It is planned that the results of this research will be used in some future book. Over the intervening years, several kind friends suggested that rather than produce a book just of number systems I should use my accumulated data to produce a complementary volume for the rest of England, Scotland and Wales and eventually that is how this second volume came about.


I have set it out on the same basis as Volume 1 using the same layout of sections for ease for reference. However the reader will no doubt appreciate that a number of those businesses who had outlets in London and were so recorded in Volume 1 were at the same time really based in Birmingham or elsewhere and properly are recorded in Volume 2 as well. I have tried so far as possible in Volume 2 to record more fully the out of London details and in some cases have also been able to expand or update the relevant records sections. However there, as well as in the Brand names, Proof date stamps and Patents sections, a degree of inevitable repetition has resulted.


It also occurred to me that many of the younger generation as well as readers from overseas may not be totally familiar with our English system of weights and measures especially now that metrication has been introduced for some years. Much of the historical data in old catalogues on guns, proof, weights, etc. was traditionally set out in pounds and ounces or feet and inches and prices were in £.s.d.. I have therefore incorporated a section at the back of this volume which sets out what I hope will be helpful information of equivalents between Imperial and Metric measures and one or two formulae to which they can be applied. For completeness I have also included some of the old measurements of area for anyone considering a sporting lease who might otherwise be a bit foxed by some of the terminology on old deed plans.


In the alphabetical index of gunmakers names and addresses it will be noticed that many of the dates are prefixed with circa (c). The explanation for this is that the best composite register of gunmakers outside London that I have found is in Kelly’s Iron Trade Directories which were only issued between 1870 and 1940. Even then they came out initially only every fourth year, although occasionally in third years, until the 1920s when it was every second year until they ceased. As a result and bearing in mind the usual compilation period for such sources, any changes between issues could have been a year or three either  way and unless I was able to confirm dates from other sources they have accordingly been shown as approximated in that way. Where the directories finished in 1940 and I had no other reference source on the names in question but I either knew or believed they did in fact continue to some extent, I have marked that final date with an asterisk. Just occasionally other dates may be so marked for the same reason. In the case of Birmingham businesses we are fortunate that Kelly’s Street Directories continued until 1974 and by that stage some more modern reference work or trade archives was often able to fill in missing detail.


One of the most difficult periods to cover was from 1940 for the following 20-30 years, since any businesses outside Birmingham that both started up and closed down within that period may not have been recorded and, unless they were members of the Gunmakers or Gun Trade Association, will probably not be listed for that reason. I trust that readers will understand the impracticality, due to the size of the project, of trying to additionally research every possible local directory as well as the National ones.


I should stress that the listings given are primarily intended to be lists of gunmakers and gunsmiths rather than just of gunshops across the country. Although it is inevitable that some gunshops will have been included and some gunsmiths etc omitted for a variety of reasons, certainly that has been the principle I have tried to maintain especially over the last 60 years covered by this book. Anyone looking for a current National listing of gunshops could do worse than start with a copy of the excellent Gun Trade Association Ltd official Handbook.


In recording businesses from 1800 onwards I have where appropriate, as with Volume 1, included known information prior to that starting date and similarly where I know of important changes after my cut-off date of 2000 I have tried to incorporate them and sometimes let the records run on as well. As with Volume 1 (where 1991 was the cut-off point) the last date of 2000 in any of the alphabetical listings is merely the cut-off date and is not meant to imply the business ceased at that time unless otherwise stated.


In the alphabetical index listings have been done by surnames and then by the wonders of modern technology! For example Westley Richards will be under ‘R’ and David McKay Brown under ‘B’ even though their Christian names will be set out in the normal way. As with Volume 1 I have set out the sequence of each business in the alphabetical index in slightly cryptic form to compress them all into a manageable amount of space with the addition of the occasional historical comment. Additionally where I have a few factual details about a business, but not really enough to justify even a short separate history, I have tried to include that detail in the records section where something is known of them. Readers may find it helpful at an early stage to carefully study the listings of abbreviations used since these are perforce somewhat lengthier then in Volume 1 due both to the wider area covered and also to the wider range of specialist skills. I should add that for simplification I have referred to the craftsmen of all the barrel construction processes, other than barrel browners/blackers, as barrel makers and similarly to all the gun stock workers as gun stockers. Gun and rifle makers and pistol and revolver makers have also been amalgamated into just two groups and although they did frequently build both types of weapons, some did not.


Whereas in Volume 1 all the addresses were broadly in London, in this Volume I have additionally had to insert towns and counties and also done so in the Brand Name and Patent sections to assist the reader. Where an address is in a county town I have not repeated the county to save unnecessary repetition. Where a business with a different name has started up by way of continuation of a former business I have as with Volume 1 continued the run of the original historical listing and then put a cross index note where the new name would otherwise appear alphabetically to save the reader time and effort. No doubt, especially in the Birmingham area trade, where many family names occur and re-occur over the generations, readers may wonder as to the relationships involved. Where I know of such I have tried to mention them but many others, although no doubt existing, will now sadly be lost in the sands of time. I would be delighted to hear from any reader who can provide additional evidence of family relationships or other details of businesses, numbering systems or surviving gunmakers records in the hope that if this work finds favour with its readers I may be able to correct or expand on such details in future editions.


As with life there are gaps in our knowledge and this book, which has drawn on the expertise of many  other people and published works, is no exception. It is my hope that by trying to put down as much as possible of this conjoined knowledge about the gunmakers of England, Scotland and Wales in one book as a complement to the first volume, which dealt only with the London area, a moderately complete picture and reference source may be available to future generations. If I have in some way succeeded in that objective then I will be amply rewarded.



















Introduction





For the history of firearms manufacturing in the 18th and 19th Centuries in the rest of England, Scotland and Wales outside of London, we must look to the Birmingham area to find our answers. Whilst London, with the government manufactory at the Tower and later Enfield Lock has its place, largely in the field of military weapons, and various cities such as Liverpool and Manchester in England, and Edinburgh and other specialist localities, such as Doune, in Scotland, all made their contribution., it is Birmingham which has been the epicentre of British gunmaking certainly since the late 17th and early 18th Centuries.


Birmingham, placed advantageously near supplies of iron and coal, has been a centre of all kinds of metalworking since the 14th Century. Gunmaking as such was certainly practised there by the mid 17th Century and is generally recognised as having become firmly established as a result of the so-called Newdegate government contracts which started in 1689. Sir Richard Newdegate, MP for Warwickshire, saw a business opportunity to supply the king (William III) with the quantity of muskets for his army that the Tower and other London traders were hard pressed to provide. The Birmingham men supplied snaphaunce weapons at a competitive price and with a speed which ensured that they made an impression on the Board of Ordnance which was responsible for placing the orders.


Birmingham had the tremendous advantage, especially in the case of the cheaper end of the market, that there was a pool of labour locally who were already trained in working with metal. If demand for guns rose or fell away the labour force could adapt itself temporarily to go with the flow. When the Royal African Company was chartered in 1672 one of the results was a great demand for the cheap muzzle loading trading guns known as ‘Africa’ or ‘slave guns’. These were sold to and used by the African leaders, who organised the slave trade, either for equipping their men or for exchanging for slaves, bribery or barter for other goods or services. They were for the most part cheap, comparatively crude and one suspects largely exported without the additional expense or benefit of Proof! Accurate production figures are hard to substantiate at this distance in time but numbers of between 100–150,000 p.a. were achieved in the period from the mid 18th-mid 19th Centuries. The Hudson’s Bay Company also had a great demand for cheaply priced weapons both for use by those opening up the great expanses of North America and for trade with the native Indians in exchange for furs and other goods. Although much of this Hudsons Bay Co trade was effected through the London gunmakers they were not usually geared up for the scale of production needed nor for the pricing level. As a result they would have to buy in either components or complete weapons from Birmingham just as the Board of Ordnance at the Tower of London was forced to do when their requirements could not be met by the much smaller production capacity of the Tower armourers and the other local producers. Indeed the Tower used Birmingham made components on a regular basis and thereafter just assembled them to suit their requirements of the moment.


Country gunmakers also availed themselves of the ability to purchase many components from Birmingham which they either could not produce themselves or found more economical to buy in. The contraction in the numbers of these provincial makers was marked in the 1700s and 1800s and the tendency was for them to switch over to purchasing either completely finished or largely finished guns often with their name put on by the Birmingham manufacturers as requested. Those who still retained trained  workmen would often stock up and finish a pair of muzzle loading barrels to their own style or would finish up a barrel and action using locks and other furniture bought in from Birmingham. However the number of businesses with their own workforce soon dwindled away and now very few outside the well known surviving names are able to offer weapons wholly or largely made in house. That said there are a few small gun and rifle making businesses today, whose proprietors have usually served their time with one or other of the more famous makers, who have moved out of the centres of the big cities and have set themselves up either in more suburban areas with lower overheads or even out in the countryside. They may employ just one or two men and specialist outworkers to produce guns and rifles some of which are of superlative quality equally as good as or better than those of the famous houses.


Although the advent of the percussion gun in the early 1800s meant that more people were able to build up reliable working guns because of their less complicated mechanism, in practice it was the Birmingham suppliers who really took most advantage of this new invention and offered ready made guns based on this system to much of the rest of the trade.


With the wealth of skilled labour in large numbers of small workshops the Birmingham approach to gun production was to spread the various operations around so that one workshop might specialise in one particular component or manufacturing skill, thus attaining economies of scale and a less costly product. The various components and skills were then brought together in a different workshop, perhaps that of the master gunmaker, to be assembled and finished to the appropriate model needed for the contract in hand. This in turn meant that for the most effective use of such a specialised production system the various workshops should ideally be fairly closely situated. Thus it was that the Birmingham gun quarter grew into being. From somewhat scattered beginnings in the Digbeth area in the early 1700s it was not long before it started its migration in the 1740s towards the area around what was to be St. Mary’s Church, built in 1774, in Whittall Street on land gifted by Dorothy and Mary Weaman, after whom Weaman Street was named. This area was on the edge of the then built up area and the leases of the plots of land, much of which was owned by the Weamans, allowed for the new buildings to be used for manufacturing purposes so was ideal for the gunmakers.


The tendency was for the master gunmakers to build themselves family houses on their plots and then in the back to erect workshops and even houses for their workmen as their businesses prospered. These rear courtyards became known as courts and many addresses in the alphabetical index for Birmingham gunmakers include it in abbreviated form. Similarly the little terraced houses, often windowless to the rear, were described as ‘back of’ the main address. In time the master gunmakers would move on to better houses and their old ones would become further workshops concentrating the trade even more. Subdivision of such houses often resulted in the addresses with the street number and the suffix ½ or a, e.g. 18 ½, or 18a to denote that No 18 was so subdivided.


The gun quarter itself gradually developed over the hundred years from the 1740s broadly within the area south of the Birmingham/Fazeley Canal, west of Lancaster Street, north of Steelhouse Lane and east of Snow Hill and Slaney Street. The streets within this area have names redolent of gunmaking association, Loveday Street, Whittall (previously Catherine) Street, Lench Street (named after the local benefactors the Lench’s Trust), Price Street, Shadwell Street, Sand Street, Bath Street, and Weaman Street, Weaman Row and St. Mary’s Row to name but some. Within this area workers could be seen quite openly carrying bundles of guns and barrels between workshops until some years after World War II (WWII) when the redevelopment of the Bull Ring area and subsequent further major road works destroyed much of this enclave. At the same time the changes in public perception of firearms and their security meant that public movements of such items had to be more circumspect.


The other factor that brought change to the old order was the evolution of the manufacturing processes and the markets for its products. From the time of the Newdegate contracts until about the middle of the 19th Century, the market for Birmingham gun production was essentially military or for the cheap trade gun. Either way all such guns were largely the product of hand craft production methods with some fairly simple mechanical assistance or, in the case of barrel production, usually water powered tooling. Then in the 1770s and 1780s the invention of Watt’s steam powered engine made it possible to drive machinery other than by water power.


With the end of the Napoleonic Wars (1804–15) the government orders had largely dried up and the average number of all Birmingham Barrel proofs over the following decade was less than 130,000. This is put into context when compared to an average of almost half a million annually during the war years and that for government arms only, not counting civilian ones or other exports.


In 1851 the Great Exhibition displayed the first breechloading guns to a British audience although they were by no means immediately accepted. Indeed various of those with vested interests or minds too closed to change from the muzzle loading concept did their best to decry them. To be absolutely truthful the early models were indeed in need of much improvement both on the grounds of safety and design but the London and Birmingham gunmakers soon sorted those problems out. However the other event that took place in 1851 and one with less obvious effect was that the Board of Ordnance sent their first of several delegations to America to study the rifle making machinery recently developed there to meet their military demands. That machinery was able to produce components machined to such a standard that parts were interchangeable between weapons of the same model, something that handcrafted components could not match. As a result of these visits the British government retooled their new Enfield Lock manufactory, to which they had started moving in 1816, and by 1858 were producing as many as 2000 military rifles a week using their new American precision machinery.


This had a traumatic effect on the Birmingham gun quarter which at a stroke was unable to compete and lost all remnants of their military rifle market. When the Birmingham Small Arms Company (BSA) was established in 1861 on a similar mechanical basis to Enfield it was able to claw a little of the rifle market back but never really got into the military contracts which were largely absorbed by Enfield and the London Armoury Company until WWII gave them their opportunity.


Accordingly the Birmingham gunmakers had both to modernise their production techniques and look for other markets to stay competitive and in business. A number of them had additional outlets in London and started to concentrate on the sporting gun side both for home and export. It was Birmingham gunmakers whose ideas and expertise produced many of the leading designs or worked out the wrinkles in the new mechanisms. Names such as Needham, Westley Richards, W P Jones and Greener spring to mind in this context. With the end of the American Civil war (1865) and of the Franco-Prussian war (1871) came a flood of ex-military arms released onto the market and although some conversion work was possible on both them and sporting muzzle loaders on the whole this glut was unhelpful to the country’s gunworkers.


Whilst concentrating mainly on Birmingham we must not overlook the considerable contribution to the trade made by the Black Country towns of Darlaston, Wednesbury, Wolverhampton and West Bromwich, all of which are now for practical purposes absorbed into greater Birmingham but at the start of our period they were all separate entities. Even earlier Bilston and Willenhall were also involved but the trade moved out of them by the first decade or two of the 19th Century. All those towns were particular specialist centres of the lockmaking side of the trade which was already well established in the mid to late 18th Century. Much of it was in providing locks for final finishing by the Birmingham workers and a great deal of its production found its way to America certainly until the end of their civil war. With the introduction of mechanisation and the principle of interchangeable parts the lock makers found their military lock business swept away and had to concentrate on the sporting side. By the last quarter of the 19th Century the Belgian lock makers in Liege had taken the trade gun market and large numbers of skilled workers left the gun trade for other employment.


It was from this point that the gun trade as a whole in the greater Birmingham area started to decline and although two World Wars intervened to give some possible respite, the change to highly mechanised production of modern military weapons meant that the majority of the surviving craft workers were only able to help in a rather peripheral way with small scale specialist items. By the end of WWII the trade was largely confined to two blocks of streets, those contained within Whittall Street, Steelhouse Lane, Weaman Street and Sand Street, and the area around the junctions of Price Street, Loveday Street, Bath Street and St. Mary’s Row. The subsequent Bull Ring and road redevelopment in the 1960s then  forced them into the Price Street, Bath Street area where those who have not moved further out still operate.


Outside Birmingham, the cities of Liverpool and Manchester, and to a slightly lesser extent Bristol, were all ports that became rich in the 18th and 19th Centuries helped in no small way by the slave trade. Their wealth and that trade not only gave impetus to a demand for trade guns but also for better quality sporting ones for use by those businessmen and local landowners who wished to enjoy and display the results of their success.


At the same time in Scotland their ingenious craftsmen were leaders in some areas. The pistol makers of Doune just north west of Stirling were active in the muzzle loading era, whilst later in the 19th Century, MacNaughton, Fraser, Henry and Dickson in Edinburgh produced falling block and trigger plate round actions in the early breechloading period, with Scotland then as now producing very fine rifle specialists due largely to the easy access to and local demand for deer stalking.


Then again there were several provincial gunmakers who gave us important inventions and designs in the development of the modern rifle and shotgun. W R Pape of Newcastle invented the principle of choke boring, Thomas Horsley of York was particularly productive and his old workshop and tools are now in the York Museum. E C Green of Cheltenham gave us the amazing three barrel gun and an o/u which was so highly thought of that Purdeys used its design as the basis for their own early venture into that type of gun. Sir Joseph Whitworth gave us inter alia, his famous fluid pressed barrel steel and George Gibbs of Bristol brought us the Gibbs-Farquharson falling block rifles, yet another of the great names from the past who in his case happily is still making rifles today. They and all the other names contained in the following pages are part of our great gunmaking heritage which lives on in the hands of sportsmen in the far corners of the world. This book seeks merely to record the past and the present of these gunmakers, but long may they continue into the future.
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Abbreviations used in text





General












	amalg

	amalgamated






	Ass’n

	Association






	b.

	born






	bus

	business






	Bros

	Brothers






	c.

	circa






	Co

	Company






	conn

	connected






	cont

	continued/continuation






	d.

	died






	engr(s)/engrng

	engineer(s)/engineering






	est

	established






	exors

	executors






	gen

	general






	gmkg

	gunmaking






	Gt

	Great






	h.

	individual history






	LSA

	Long Sufferers Association






	mfg

	manufacturing






	mfr(s)

	manufacturer(s)






	mgr

	manager






	mkr(s)

	maker(s)






	Mkt

	Market






	Mt

	Mount






	no(s)

	number(s)






	NR

	not recorded/no record






	NRA

	National Rifle Association






	o/u

	over and under






	pship

	partnership






	pat

	patent/patented






	poss

	possible/possibly






	prems

	premises






	pres

	presumably






	prev

	previous(ly)






	prob

	probable/probably






	prop

	proprietor






	q.v.


	see






	Rec.

	serial no. records






	repr

	representative(s)






	res.

	residence






	rtd

	retired






	s.a.

	same address






	sep

	separate






	sh gds

	shooting grounds






	St

	Street






	Stn

	Station






	subs

	subsequent(ly)






	t/a

	trading as






	temp

	temporary






	Terr

	Terrace






	Yd

	Yard















Professions












	A*mkr(s)

	gun action maker(s) * denotes breech loading






	Amnmkr(s)

	ammunition maker(s)






	Bb(s)

	barrel browner(s)






	Bmkr(s)

	gun barrel maker(s)






	Cmkr(s)

	gun carriage maker(s)






	Dlr(s)

	dealer(s)






	Fc(s)

	gun file cutter(s)






	Fmkr(s)

	gun furniture maker(s)






	Gcmkr(s)

	guncase/shooting accessories maker(s)






	Ge(s)

	gun engraver(s)






	GF(s)

	gun finisher(s)






	GM(s)

	gun machinery maker(s)






	Gmc(s)

	gun metal caster(s)






	GMM(s)

	gunpowder machinery maker(s)






	Gmkr(s)

	gun and/or rifle maker(s)






	Gsmth

	gunsmith






	GP(s)

	gun polisher(s)






	Gpc(s)

	gun percussioner(s)






	Gpmkr(s)

	gunpowder or guncotton maker(s)






	GS(s)

	gun screwer(s)






	Imkr(s)

	gun implement maker(s)






	Lmkr(s)

	gun lock maker(s)






	Pmkr(s)

	gunpowder flask and shot pouch maker(s)






	Rmkr(s)

	pistol and/or revolver maker(s)






	Sc(s)

	sword cutler(s)






	Smkr(s)

	gun stocker(s) and/or stock maker(s)






	Spmkr(s)

	gun spring maker(s)















Publications












	CEW

	Scottish Arms Makers by C E Whitelaw






	GB

	Boothroyds Revised Directory of British Gunmakers






	ITD

	Kelly’s Iron & Metal Trades Directories 1870–1940






	N&B

	English Gunmakers by De Witt Bailey & Douglas A Nie






	Snell

	Salisbury Gunsmiths by Michael Snell















Towns












	B’ham

	Birmingham






	Glw

	Glasgow






	L’pool

	Liverpool






	P’boro

	Peterborough






	Soton

	Southampton






	W’hampton

	Wolverhampton















Counties












	Co D’ham

	County Durham






	C’land

	Cumberland






	D’set

	Dorset(shire)






	Forfar

	Forfarshire






	Glam

	Glamorgan






	Glos

	Gloucestershire






	Hants

	Hampshire






	H’fd

	Herefordshire






	Herts

	Hertfordshire






	I of W

	Isle of Wight






	Mon

	Monmouthshire






	M’sex

	Middlesex






	N’folk

	Norfolk






	N’land

	Northumberland






	Oxon

	Oxfordshire






	Salop

	Shropshire






	S’land

	Sunderland






	S’folk

	Suffolk






	Warks

	Warwickshire






	W’land

	Westmorland



































Part I


Individual histories of 60 British gunmakers and related businesses





 





Akrill, Esau/Akrill, H E – Beverley


Akrills were established in Beverley, Yorkshire in 1828 by Esau Akrill who had been apprenticed there to William Taylor. They were recorded initially in Walkergate before moving to the Market Place at least by 1833. A percussion rifle, possibly dating from the 1850s, has been noted with the address as 39 Market Place, possibly unrecorded premises or an earlier street numbering system. They remained at 18 Market Place where Roger Akrill, great great grandson of the founder, ran the business until he closed it in August 2001. There was a second shop at 25 Blackfriargate, Hull, opened 1847 which quickly moved to 72 Mytongate by 1851 but appears to have closed by 1855. Esau Akrill passed the business on to his son Henry who was recorded at Beverley in 1861 and in 1890 he in turn passed it to his son Henry Esau who died in 1941. Interestingly Henry Akrill incorporated in his trade card the Beverley crest of a beaver above waves symbolising a lake, showing the origin of the town’s name corrupted over the years from ‘Beverlac’. After H E Akrill’s death his two sons G C and E J Akrill ran it in partnership and one of the brothers, Edmund, until his death on 5th July 1997, regularly used to call in to keep an eye on things and his son Roger. It became a limited company in 1975.
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H E Akrill in straw hat, grandfather of Roger Akrill the last family owner, beside Frank Wood in flat cap taken between the wars.








Accuracy International (UK) Ltd – Portsmouth


Accuracy International (UK) Ltd started out as a retail business in Gladys Avenue, Portsmouth, Hampshire, run by the internationally famous Olympic target shooter Malcolm Cooper. As its name implies, it specialised in target weapons and went into its own production using Cooper’s knowledge and experience.


Later the company branched out into the military market and is perhaps best known for designing the British Army sniping rifle designated the L 96 AI together with its various derivative patterns used by several other countries as well. Although Malcolm Cooper sadly died quite young in June 2001 the Company continued to thrive in Portsmouth until early 2005 when it was put into receivership.


Anderson, Frank A, Anderson, F A – East Grinstead


Frank Anderson came from Greeners to start up his part time business in East Grinstead, Sussex in 1948. Initially he rented part of No 49a High Street from the resident clock and watchmaker but by 1951 he was there full time and had taken over the whole of the premises.


To start with he bought and sold guns and fishing tackle and carried out general gunsmithing work on the premises but gradually phased out the fishing tackle side. He carried on until his death on 4th December 1972 when the shop remained closed briefly until D J (Jack) Wood took it over on 5th May 1973.


Jack Wood opened another branch at 12 East Street, Brighton in 1982, which in 1992 became the gunshop C & H Weston when it was taken over by Jack’s son and still continues there. He then started a branch at 73a High Street, Ashford, Kent in 1985 which remained there until 1992 when he transferred it to his manager who ran it thereafter as Ashford Guns & Tackle. Jack also opened a branch at 3/4 New Road, Brighton in 1986 which he sold in 1991 and which then became Aspens Gunshop.


In the 1970s and 1980s a small number of guns were put out under the F A Anderson name, which are dealt with in the records section.


ASI (Anglo Spanish Imports) – Saxmundham


This business was set up originally in 1958 at Alliance House, Ipswich, Suffolk, as a vehicle for the main AYA (Aguirre y Aranzabal) Agency in the UK. Peter King started it up with his brother Andrew on the basis that Peter would be responsible for the UK and Andrew for the European area. Not long after it began Duncan McCorkindale joined the others to assist with the UK side.


Andrew’s two sons Charles and Edward also helped run the business for a while until Charles went to Europe as assistant to the Director General of FACE (Federation of Associations for Hunting and Conservation in the EU), then around 1996 left to become an interpreter at NATO whilst Edward has since 1992 to the present time been effectively the managing director of ASI apart from a short spell in 2001 as general manager of Holland & Holland.


The ASI business was moved to Snape near Saxmundham in Suffolk in 1961, still retaining the Alliance House name and remains there to this day offering a range of skills and products. Apart from still being the main AYA Agent in the U.K. the business was also agent for the Italian gunmaker Franchi from the mid 1970s until the late 1980s, briefly agent for the French gunmaker Verney Carron in the 1970s and from 1992 onwards has been agent for the Italian gunmaker Silma.


Bagnall & Kirkwood – Newcastle


This business was set up in 1935 in new premises at 31 Westgate Road, Newcastle on Tyne to carry on the business of W R Pape, which until that time had two shops in Collingwood Street, one which dealt with the gunmaking and the other the fishing tackle side of the business. Initially they traded as Bagnall & Kirkwood (Late of W R Pape).


It seems that Victor Pape, son of the founder, had decided to pursue an entirely different line of career but kept the Pape name and the old premises at Collingwood Street together with the gunmaking records. In 1937 he moved his new venture to 52 Grainger Street and two or three years later the business closed down having been last recorded in the local directories in 1940.


Meanwhile Miss Bagnall and Mr Kirkwood, who had been the joint managers of the Pape fishing tackle and gun shops respectively, took with them all the skilled staff and over the next couple of years finished off those Pape guns in the pipeline at the time of the split. They also made up a number of guns under their own name from the remaining stocks of components taken over from Pape but discontinued production at the beginning of WWII. In 1944 Sidney Guthrie was employed by Kirkwood as a junior assistant and at that time Harry Day, Pape’s best stocker, was still working in the repair department. When Kirkwood died in 1954 Guthrie took over the business the following year and in 1969 moved it to 52 Grey Street. His wife Mrs E Guthrie joined the business in 1973 and then became joint owner. She was followed in the business by their son Alan in 1981.


On Sidney Guthrie’s death in April 1993 his widow and son moved to their present address at 28 Grey Street in October that year. Even now Bagnall & Kirkwood still get letters from owners of Pape guns worldwide and are able to carry out service and repairs to them. Bagnall & Kirkwook also have sufficient detail of the Pape records from copies in their possession to be able to answer owner’s enquiries about them.





Bailons (Gunmakers) Ltd – Birmingham


The business arose from the ashes of W W Greener when that business was sold to Webley & Scott in 1965. Len Onions, the long time Greener Works manager, didn’t want to continue under the new order and was helped by Leyton Greener to establish himself at 94/95 Bath Street, Birmingham, also taking with him Len Bailey, Greener’s old accountant, to run the paperwork side. It was an amalgam of their surnames which gave the new company its title. It remained in those premises until they closed their doors in 1993 by which time Sir Malcolm Guthrie Bt had taken control of the business.


Baker, William – Birmingham


William Baker (1858–1932) was perhaps to the Birmingham gun trade what Frederick Beesley was to the London end. He was a great inventor and produced ideas which others adopted and as with Beesley, who never made a great fortune from them and especially not from his Purdey action, his inventions benefited others as much if not more than himself.
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W Baker’s o/u gun using his patents 4722, 9768 and 15605/1912. Popular with the trade.








Baker worked for the trade rather than for himself, and in this regard almost all his early patents were jointly registered either with Bentley, Philipson or W P Jones, by some or all of whom he may have been employed. This may well explain why it was that only towards the end of the first decade of the 20th Century he was for the first time recorded in the directories in his own name at 87 Snow Hill, where he was to stay for twenty years. Of his thirty-five patents those for his single trigger, ejector and o/u guns were quite extensively used by the trade and his 1906 lightweight sidelock gun action was the basis for the later world famous Lancaster 12/20 gun.


A combination of his death, which meant the business losing its driving force, and the onset of WWII resulted in it closing down and it was last recorded in 1940 at the 7 Bath Street address, which it had occupied since 1929. No Baker records are known to have survived.


Bassett, G J – Petersfield


GJ Bassett (George J.), 4 Swan Street, Petersfield, Hampshire, started out as an ironmonger there in 1927. Like many in that line of business he also bought and sold guns and cartridges. He had previously come from Kent and had worked with Allsworths at Lavant Road, Petersfield, learning the business after serving in Mesopotamia during the Great War.


When he retired in March 1967 Derek J Ismay took the business on and later the same year he was joined by his brother William and together they continued the business under the name of Bassetts, creating in 1976 a separate specialised gunroom.


In 1983 they added No 6 where the gunroom side is currently carried on at the rear of the premises. Own brand cartridges were put out before the war under the ‘Butser’ name and more recently as ‘the Champion’.


Bonehill, C G – Birmingham


Christopher George Bonehill was born in Birmingham in 1831 of old Warwickshire farming stock who in more recent times had been ironmongers and involved in the manufacturing industry of the area.


When he was apprenticed into the gunmaking trade all we know is that it was to a Mr Aston. There are fifteen Astons listed in the Birmingham area, most of whom were barrel, lock or other accessory makers. On the logical basis that Bonehill’s apprenticeship started c.1844–46 the list narrows down to only two or three possible candidates. William Aston was at 8 Upper Priory, Birmingham from 1838–46 and then at Staniforth Street until 1849, Richard and William Aston, gun finishers and implement makers who were at Bridge Street from 1845–48 and then at 8 Upper Priory until 1868 and Joseph Aston, lockmaker who is only recorded in 1841 at 8 Upper Priory. The address link might indicate they were all related, which is likely, but the most obvious candidate to whom Bonehill could have been apprenticed is one of the Richard and William Aston duo or perhaps another member of that business.
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Extract from C G Bonehill’s catalogue c.1885 showing the method of barrel lump construction used in his ‘Interchangeable’ gun.








When his apprenticeship, normally of seven years, was completed he immediately set up on his own in 1851 when he was 19 or perhaps just 20 years old and as with many of the Birmingham trade, found work by supplying components for some of the military contracts still available. He must have been successful for around 1870 he moved into much larger premises in 33 Charlotte Street from his previous unrecorded workshop in St. Georges. He was only to be there a few years until the mid 1870s when he was able to acquire the old National Arms and Ammunition Company premises in Belmont Row which gave him a factory with machine tooling and which he called the Belmont Fire Arms & Gun Barrel Works.


He saw the future with the change from hand craftwork to machine tooling for many of the gunmakers’ skills. Although his first patent was taken out in 1869 his real burst of talent was between 1877 and 1888 followed by spasmodic inventions through to 1908. That spate of his inventions threw up inter alia patents for an action which was part of his ‘Interchangeable’ gun as it became known and for barrel construction by way of his clip lump in which the breech piece and lump was machined from a single block of metal, not dissimilar to the monobloc lump favoured in Europe, but with the sides open and into which the suitably machined barrel tubes could be clipped and brazed. His barrel tubes were turned on a lathe and not ground.


His machine tooling capability allowed him to make up components in bulk and to tolerances that could permit them to be interchanged between guns, hence the name. Initially this model of gun was of a toplever hammer design with a dolls head extension built in four grades A, B, C & D and priced at £5-10-0, £6-7-6, £8-5-0 and £12-0-0 respectively. By the late 1880s it was produced on an Anson & Deeley design as well. In order to obtain the full benefit of his mass production methods the guns were produced to standard 12 bore specifications with a 14 ¾ inch half pistol stock and 2 inch bend, although other measurements and a straight hand stock were available at a cost of 10/-extra. Barrels were 30 inch with left full choke and right cylinder unless ordered otherwise and the guns weighed under 6 ¾ lb with 28 inch barrels and under 7 lb with 30 inch. Special 3” chambered heavy guns were also available as were steel barrels with any model at the same price.


One of the largest markets for Bonehill’s machine made guns was in the U.S.A. but this was effectively destroyed by the protectionist McKinley tariff of 1890 which made gun imports to that country uneconomical for that type of weapon.


In looking for alternative markets Bonehill turned to rifle and airweapon production for his machinery. Probably the best known of his resulting products was the ‘Britannia’ air rifle which was the result of joint patents with H Horner in 1907/8.


The war in 1914 brought with it a switch to military production, not all of it firearms related, but by this stage the founder was of advancing years and died in 1920, possibly hastened by wartime pressures. His son A M Bonehill carried on the business registering joint patents in 1929 and 1930 but by 1939 he was only the manager and the proprietor was A Mawson. The business having moved to 4 Price Street in 1922 it was to remain there until it closed down, the last recording of it there being in 1962. Sadly the old record books were lost or destroyed at that time. Paul Chambers, whose family business had adjoining premises, stated that they helped clear out Bonehill’s old shop and that the old ledgers were piled in a corner and were presumably destroyed or thrown away at that time.


Bourne Joseph (& Son) – Birmingham


The business of Joseph Bourne was established in 1840, according to their catalogues, and their earliest listed address was 5 Whittall Street occupied from 1849–1878 with the entry mentioning that the business had previously been Redfern & Bourne. This must refer to Thomas Redfern active from 1837 so, although not separately recorded as such, presumably covered the period 1837–1846 or some part of it. It became Joseph Bourne & Son in 1867. Other addresses occupied include 9 St. Mary’s Row, 1885 until early in the 20th Century. By 1912 they were at 100/101 Bath Street, including 89–92 Lower Loveday Street. They continued to occupy the Bath Street premises into the 1950s. The business acquired the firm of Walter Edwards in 1907 and the following year that of Robert Hughes & Son. They also acquired James Bott & Son around the same period. The business appears to have closed down in the 1950s, the last entry in the Directories being in 1953.


British Gun Implement Makers – Sheffield


With the increased interest in recent years in the tools and gadgets associated with guns and shooting some of which are often to be found in old gun cases even today, it was felt that a few words on some of the best known Sheffield makers might not be amiss.


Sheffield in Yorkshire was famous for its steel products and became the main centre for production of gun implements especially powder flasks since with the start of the 19th Century their skill in die stamping made it possible to produce high quality flasks by mass production methods. Although London and Birmingham had their own manufacturing industries in this field, knowing how the gun trade operated even in those days one cannot help but suspect that many items from those cities may have had their origins in Sheffield.


The age of the various muzzle loading designs called for the sportsman or soldier of the day to carry separate flasks for both powder and shot together with wadding and flints, or latterly caps, as well as one or two tools for maintenance or adjustment in the field. Although the advent of the self contained cartridge gradually did away with most of these, in turn it spawned a new crop of items such as extractors, reloading machines for the early pinfire and later centrefire guns and rifles and other gadgets to assist the shooter in making up his own cartridges. In the field of gun implements there are several well known Sheffield makers’ names but pre-eminent must be those of James Dixon & Sons and George and John William Hawksley.


James Dixon & Sons were established in 1806 for the original purpose of making up Britannia metal goods. With the business prospering, their factory at Cornish Place known as the Cornish works was built around 1820 and with their increased capacity they started manufacture of powder flasks. By 1861 they had moved into other gun implements and sold them not only to the British gunmakers but also did considerable export trade to both France and the USA. As with many of their implements these were often offered in plain brass or with the more expensive nickel plated finish. The cheaper grade was usually sold unmarked and the more expensive stamped with their name, a practice also followed by Hawksleys. Dixons virtually ceased production of their implement side in 1915, presumably war work took priority, and at about the same time disposed of their stocks to an Italian company based in Rome. During their heyday Dixons supplied Col. Colt with flasks for his revolvers and Thomas Firth & Sons, a Sheffield Steelmaker, supplied both the English and American factories with special steel for the revolvers manufacture. Not quite all Dixon flask manufacture ceased after 1915 as we shall see next, and additionally manufacture of the Dixon & Simpson’s Climax cartridge loading machine of 1887, which could load up to 3000 cartridges per hour, continued until the 1950s.


G & J W Hawksley were established in 1840 for the sole purpose of manufacturing shooting accessories at Carver Works, Carver Street, and soon gained an excellent reputation in competition with Dixons. After Dixon & Sons left the market during WWI Hawksleys were probably the best known producer of such items in the world. After WWII Dixons acquired the Hawksley business in 1947 and moved it to their old premises at Cornish Place. After the move Hawksleys continued to trade under their own name.


Some ten years later in 1957, the manufacture of powder flasks was restarted in response to demand from collectors and muzzle loading enthusiasts using Hawksley’s original dies even though on 31st December 1955 Hawksleys had shut down their main gun implement department and just sold their remaining stocks while they lasted. In 1991 Sheffield Industrial Museums Trust put on an exhibition of Sheffield made shooting accessories based on the James Dixon & Sons collection in their possession and produced a superb lavishly illustrated explanatory brochure to accompany it. Copies are still available from the Kelham Island Museum, Alma Street, Off Corporation Street, Sheffield S3 8RY, Tel 0114 272 2106 Fax 0114 275 7847.


Before leaving powder flasks the name of another Sheffield man must be mentioned, this was Thomas Sykes who worked there as a gunsmith and flaskmaker between 1816–64. His most important contribution to the industry was his patent No 3828 of 1814 for a spring loaded safety stop to prevent any residual spark from a gun barrel entering the powder flask when powder was being tipped into the barrel and additionally for the adjustable nozzle by means of a graduated outer sleeve to enable different loads to be dispensed. These improvements are still used today; this last idea being seen as much on powder and shot ladles as on flasks. A small detail arising out of this latter part of the design is that the British manufacturers tended to finish the graduated steps with a square end and the American makers often used a rounded one which is sometimes helpful in identifying the origins of unmarked examples. Thomas Sykes & Sons, whose precise address or addresses are not recorded, was presumably related to George Sykes at 7 Waingate, Sheffield 1816–22 and also to Robert who was there earlier from 1774–86.


Another famous Sheffield flask and implement maker was William Bartram whose high quality goods were often stamped with his logo of a jockey’s cap with riding whip beneath and the brand name ‘Nimrod’. This name arose from his factory known as the Nimrod works which was to be found at 105 Eldon Street c.1870–c.78 and then c.1883–c.90 at No 111. He designed a powder measure jointly with Dougall with a spring loaded cut-off and funnel in 1869 and he also produced excellent cartridge extractors. One nickel plated example in the Author’s collection with ring and long hook for removing cutoff paper cases from shotgun chambers, is well finished and marked with his name and logo. Incidentally it is a common misconception amongst many sportsmen that the ring is a cartridge sizer, only in rare cases is this so as it was designed for a finger to give a good grip.


Although there were many other small implement and flask makers both in Sheffield and elsewhere, those outlined above are probably the best known and whose products still fetch premium prices when they change hands.


A A Brown & Son – Alvechurch


Albert Arthur Brown was first recorded in the Birmingham directories in 1929 as a gunmaker at 27½ Whittall Street and only later around 1936 as an action filer as well. Either way, he operated like so many other craftsmen in Birmingham pretty much exclusively for the trade including a quantity of work for Clabrough & Johnstone until they shut down. It would not be until after WWII that the business started some degree of private retail work for the general public.


He remained at Whittall Street until 1938 although for the last year or so the number was 35½, and then the same year his two sons Albert Henry who had been with Webleys and a few months later Sidney Charles came into the firm which was then to be known as A A Brown & Sons. Their next address was in Sand Street which was first recorded in 1938 and was to remain their base until 1960. There was one short break during the war due to bomb damage which caused a brief sojourn in Shirley before they returned to Sand Street in 1945. By that stage they were advertising themselves only as gunmakers although still largely for the trade. During the war they had undertaken vital toolmaking for Willmot Breedon helping the production of Spitfires at Castle Bromwich.


It was as the war ended, and like everyone else in the trade they were looking around for work, that they undertook the manufacture, largely from existing components, of the Anson Star airpistols. These were the invention of E Anson whose previous and rather more widely known venture into this field was his patent 24837 of 1907 better known as the Highest Possible and sold under the Westley Richards name. To be frank the Star was not a commercial success and when Anson died, and the business closed in 1936, Joseph Curry of New House Lane, Whittall Street, acquired the remaining stock of components. He then got Browns to assemble and finish the few of them that had survived the war. Of the 37 made Browns still retain No 37 which is now on loan to the Birmingham Proof House Museum and the others are prized collectors items because of their rarity.


This venture into airpistols turned the Brown family’s mind in this direction since raw materials were in short supply in the aftermath of war. As a result they redesigned the Star to greatly improve its efficiency and named their version the Abas (A Brown & Sons), the same name they gave to their works from 1946. The Abas also became a collectors’ item and the family believe around 1840 were made and retailed out until the early 1960s.


In 1960 the business moved to Bournbrook adjoining the Westley Richards factory for whom they did a great deal of work especially on sidelock guns. When they left there in 1974 it was to move to their present premises at Snake Lane, Alvechurch on the edge of Birmingham. There they have extensive machinery available for their gun production which was boosted by their takeover of the business and machinery of A E Bayliss in the 1940s and especially by their subsequent acquisition of Joseph Asbury’s business which by that stage was largely that of a machinist. Asbury produced machinings for many barrels and action bodies and their ‘J A’ stamp will often still be found on these, most visibly on barrels just forward of the flats on many makes of gun. The same barrel stamping on Purdey guns from prewar until recent years however refers to their leading barrel filer of that period, Jack Aldous.


Today Robin Brown, grandson of the founder and son of Sidney Charles, who still comes in to keep an eye on things once or twice a week, runs the business and has a full order book for their best quality side by side guns. To augment those they introduced a more modestly priced range in 1997 based on a Beretta o/u which they customise to the purchaser’s requirements and which are known as their B B Range (Brown Beretta). Although still hand finished they involve a more realistic financial outlay and waiting time. Albert Henry Brown was Chairman of the Guardians of the Birmingham proof house from 1958–1962 and his nephew Robin was appointed Vice Chairman in 2003.


Brown, David McKay – Glasgow


Having started his working life as an apprentice draughtsman in the field of heavy engineering David graduated to another apprenticeship, this time with the Scottish gunmaker Alex Martin of Glasgow in 1957. However before long Martin’s business was absorbed by John Dickson of Edinburgh and, although the old Glasgow premises were to remain as a gunmakers under the Dickson umbrella until 1988, David transferred to Dickson’s head office and factory at Edinburgh and remained there getting valuable experience of the Dickson round action design.


At that stage, although subsequently re-invigorated, Dickson’s actual gunmaking side was running down and he decided to set up on his own in 1967 at 39 Portland Place, Hamilton, Lanarkshire where he was to stay until 1980 when he moved to his present premises at 32 Hamilton Road, Bothwell, Glasgow G71 8NA. When he started out his old employers were sufficiently keen to retain his services that they sent him a great deal of work which kept him so busy that it was not until 1974 that he was able to start building guns bearing his own name. Within a few years the build up of work saw his move to Glasgow to cope with the flow of orders for his round action side by side guns. In 1992 he registered the design for his round action o/u gun which rapidly became very popular, the 20 gauge model being the most sought after of all the guns and double rifles he builds.


Having himself trained up a skilled workforce of four in-house specialists, Robin Moir (actioner), Jim McDonald (barrel filer), Brian Sinclair (stocker) and Douglas Procter (lockmaker), all of whom have been with him since they were apprenticed, he is able to produce around thirty guns per year. Whilst staying entirely faithful to the original Dickson design of 1882 he is not averse to a little fine tuning to improve it even further when he deems it opportune. The one thing he won’t compromise on is his standard of best quality and the hundreds of his guns and double rifles in circulation around the world bear ample witness to that.


T W Chambers & Co – Alness


The gunmaking firm of T W Chambers & Co now situated in Scotland has a long history of working for the British gun trade. Established as a business in 1823 in London there were several branches of the family who gradually came together to produce the current business and Paul Chambers who currently heads the business has done considerable research into his family members going back to the 18th Century. With his permission are listed below the various references to members of the gunmaking family which he has unearthed and some additional references to members of the Chambers family can be found in British Gunmakers Volume I, (first published as London Gunmakers), although it is not certain that such references may necessarily all be the same Chambers family. Similarly it is not known if the William Chambers who was a gunsmith and journeyman to John Currie in Glasgow in 1715, or more recently the Charles Chambers recorded in Salisbury, Wiltshire c. 1883 were related.


Initially the business from 1823–1874 went under the name of Thomas Chambers, then from 1874–1946, or possibly only until c.1939, as Charles Chambers and then certainly from after World War II it has been T W Chambers. Paul has some family correspondence which might indicate T W Chambers setting up under his own name in 1939 but it may be that the war intervened before he could put that move into effect and subsequently restarted in 1946 or 1947. The addresses and dates listed below may not necessarily all be business addresses and there are gaps in the dates which Paul has not yet been able to completely fill.












	THOMAS CHAMBERS B.1720







	1748–50

	Parish of St. Michael’s, Bristol






	1751

	Parish of St. Giles, Cripplegate, London (Listed as Planemaker)






	1753–55

	Moor Street, Birmingham






	1757–58

	3 Chamber Street, Goodman’s Fields, Whitechapel






	1765

	Parish of St. Mary, Whitechapel.

























	CHARLES CHAMBERS B.1750


 






	1776–77

	St. Katherine’s Place, Nr. Tower, London






	1779–82

	20 Chamber Street, Whitechapel (S.M.W. & Sun Fire Policy)






	1788–92

	Parish of St. George’s, Hanove






	1798

	36 Rosemary Lane, Aldgate

























	CHARLES CHAMBERS B.1777







	1800

	Mansel Street, Whitechapel






	1802

	Parish of St. George In The East






	1804

	Dock Street, Whitechapel






	1806

	New Martin Street






	1808

	Rosemary Lane






	1813–26

	Lambeth Street.

























	THOMAS CHAMBERS B.1806







	1823–28

	St. Dunstan’s Hill, City of London






	1829–31

	Lambeth Street, Whitechapel






	1832–34

	Rupert Court, Whitechapel






	1835-?

	Fore Street, Lambeth






	1840–43

	41 Minories, Aldgate (Peacock Place)






	1844–48

	8 Sun Court, High Street, Aldgate






	1849-?

	Crown & Shears Place, Aldgate






	1861

	Brunswick Place, Whitechapel

























	CHARLES CHAMBERS







	1871–73

	Church Road, Enfield, Middlesex.






	1874–76

	Glovers Road, Aston, Birmingham






	1877–1881

	or later White Road, Aston, Birmingham






	c.1906–1939

	15 (back of) St. Mary’s Row, Birmingham

























	T W CHAMBERS & CO






	1946–1966

	4 Price Street, Birmingham






	1966–1990

	High Street, Northleach, Glos.






	1990–2000

	Ideal Gun Works, Unit 8E, Alness Industrial Estate, Alness, Rosshire, Scotland IV17 0XS















B E Chaplin (Gunmakers) Ltd – Winchester


This was initially set up under the name of Howard A Davies, a gunmaker who had been installed as Manager by Bernard E Chaplin in the Southgate Street premises at Winchester which he had acquired in July 1932. Davies was an old Westley Richards employee from Birmingham who had also worked for them in London before coming to Winchester.


Alfred H Gritt (known by the trade as Alf) was born in Winchester on 15th March 1921 and aged 14 was apprenticed to Howard Davies who paid him 8s 10d a week. With the outbreak of War Alf joined the RAF and saw service in Germany, Canada and the UK. After he was demobbed he returned to Winchester and duly completed the last three of his seven years apprenticeship.


By the 1950s Howard Davies was of advancing years and not in the best of health and although Alf and Hilda, who he had married in December 1946, had received a tempting offer of a gunmaking position in New Zealand, he chose to stay at Winchester. He was rewarded by becoming Manager on Davies’ retirement in 1955 and from that time the business name changed from Howard A Davies to B E Chaplin gunmakers. In 1968 it became B E Chaplin (Gunmakers) Limited.


Alf built the business up very successfully for most of 35 years and it was to become one of the leading gunmakers in the Southern Counties with a team of trained men. Ill health forced him to take a less active management role in 1988 and eventually the business was acquired in 1989 by Laurie Hart and Peter Burden, two of his old employees.


Alf Gritt always took a keen interest in the Gun Trade Association and had been on its Council since 1981. He was elected to membership of the Long Sufferers Association in 1961 and became its Chairman in 1983 and was elected a Liveryman of the Gunmakers Company in January 1980. Although perhaps not widely known he also helped Gunmark start up business in the early 1970s by renting them cellar space in Chaplin’s premises.


Laurie Hart and Peter Burden continue to build guns to order for their customers and maintain and service guns and rifles in their workshop.


Dickson, John – Edinburgh


John Dickson (1794–1880) was the son of an Edinburgh porter of the same name. In 1806 he was apprenticed to the gunmaker James Wallace, cousin of James Innes with whom James practised as Innes and Wallace, first at 25 North Bridge in 1795 and by the date of John’s apprenticeship at Bull-turnpike, High Street.


John successfully completed his training in October 1813 and then he was first recorded as a gunmaker at 63 Princes Street, Edinburgh, in 1830. However this was at that time James Wallace & Co’s address, who by then had split with James, and clearly John had stayed with his old master for some years to gain experience. It is possible this was up until 1840, the date when John Dickson & Son, gunmaker, was recorded as operating his own business nearby at 60 Princes Street. Nine years later in 1849 he was to move into 63 Princes Street, his old master’s premises in his own right. Wallace & Co, as they were by then known, had been succeeded by Agnew & Co at No 63 in 1841 who had apparently taken on one Alexander Wallace, then running the business briefly until they themselves shut down in 1843. Dickson was to remain at No 63 until 1929.
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John Dickson’s workshop in Rose Street between the wars.








Meanwhile elsewhere in Edinburgh two other gunmakers, T E Mortimer and J Harkom, who had both started up in the 1830s, were to amalgamate around 1923 and then in turn be assimilated into John Dickson & Son in 1938. 1923 was also the year that the last John Dickson to run the business died and it was continued, under the same name, by A M Prain, who was presumably related to the William Prain of Montrose who with Mr McArthur jointly invented the ‘Gannochy’ rapid loader. In turn J Hayhoe, previously manager of Mortimer & Son, but in 1938 running Dicksons, acquired the Mortimer business (including Harkom) and brought it all under Dickson’s control. By that stage Dicksons, who were installed in 32 Hanover Street between 1929 and 1937, were going to need larger premises and moved into 21 Frederick Street in 1937 to accommodate both the other businesses and their own flourishing trade as gunmaker and fishing tackle makers. Their shooting grounds in the 1930s were at Corstophine Hill about 3½ miles west of Edinburgh. Their Frederick Street premises have served them well and they remain there today with an additional branch in Dunkeld with workshops attached set up in 2001. 


In 1947 Dickson acquired the business of James MacNaughton the patentee of the first round action ‘Edinburgh’ gun similar to Dickson’s own later design and in 1964/5 they also acquired the business of Alex Martin, perhaps best known for his target rifles, sights and ribless shotguns, who had previously acquired the business of Alex Henry prior to WWII. With these acquisitions came premises in Edinburgh in the case of MacNaughton, which were retained for a short while, and in Glasgow and Aberdeen in respect of Martin. The Aberdeen premises were closed down in 1985 and the Glasgow ones in 1988.


Dicksons are perhaps best remembered in the minds of gun enthusiasts for three designs of gun and for one customer. The guns were their round action triggerplate lock, which was covered by a number of patents (1880/294, 1882/873 and 1887/9399 & 10621), their o/u version of the same design which was in effect achieved by turning it on its side and making it a side opener, and their three barrel gun (1882/873) which was an expansion of the round action principle. The o/u and the three barrel guns were made in very limited quantities compared to the side by side version. The last recorded o/u was No 7587 and a few of the three barrel guns which have been encountered by the Author and which were mainly made up to the end of the 19th Century, have been listed in the records. One of those, a 16 gauge and one of a pair was lent by the descendant of the original owner to an American serviceman stationed on the local airbase in Northamptonshire to shoot rabbits during WWII. At the end of the war the owner gave it to the borrower when he had to return home and within the last few years she had a charming letter from him, telling her that because of advancing years he had finally had to give up hunting so he had sold the gun and donated the money to a worthy charity.


Charles Gordon of Halmyre was the kind of customer every gunmaker needed at the time when breechloading designs were still fluid and muzzleloading guns were still commonplace. He walked into Dickson’s shop at 63 Princes Street on 3rd April 1875 and ordered one of the new breechloading 12 gauge shotguns they were offering. He ordered a muzzleloading gun in each of the two following years, had a gap in 1878 and then started a legendary buying spree that was to progress from a few guns each year up to an average of roughly one a month! His best year was 25 weapons in 1893. After this point the numbers dwindled and his last was a breechloading .500 rifle in 1906 by which time he was in severe financial difficulties and died in 1918. Part of the fascination for collectors of this eccentric lover of Dickson gun, rifles and pistols, who helped keep the business solvent, was that he appears to have hardly ever fired any of them. They are to be found even today in many instances complete in their cases with all the fittings in apparently unfired condition. A listing of the 225 weapons he purchased from Dicksons is to be found in their records section and despite many people’s concept that they were mostly muzzleloaders, in fact almost half were of breechloading designs.


Of those who have steered Dicksons through the post WWII period, mention should be made of Alastair Sinclair who retired as managing director in 1985 having been with them and Alex Martin since immediately after WWII. Also Archie Nelson and Eddie Wight who between them served more years than can be remembered and while Eddie has recently retired, in Archie’s case the clock is still running!


Ownership of Dicksons has passed through several hands since the last of the family were involved and in the 1960s one of the shareholders was the father of Alasdair Laing who with Barry Wilcox acquired MacNaughtons from Dicksons in 1995. Then on 25th June 1999, having in the meantime purchased the Dan’l Fraser business from Bernard Horton Corcoran, they purchased Dicksons which incorporated the names of Alex Martin, Alex Henry, Joseph Harkom and Thomas Mortimer. They renamed it Dickson & MacNaughton and based it in their long established premises at 21 Frederick Street. At the present time, there are two overseas investors, Bob Palmer the current chairman and Gil Hodge, both from Texas as well as local landowner Alasdair Laing. The operating director is Barry Wilcox who with Archie Nelson runs the main shop whilst Mark Frearson leads the gunmaking team of five at their Dunkeld House Shooting Academy and workshops.


There they are again making their round action gun whilst introducing new models as well. They plan to produce at least one pattern of gun or rifle for each of their famous Scottish gunmaking names and so far have produced a quality A & D gun under the Mortimer name, a specially designed and finished Italian o/u under the Martin name as well as reintroducing the original bar in wood MacNaughton and of course their own design of round action.


Dyson, Peter – Honley


Peter Dyson’s business originated in 1962 from the Holme Valley Gun Club, a group of muzzle-loading enthusiasts he organised and who met regularly in the top floor gunroom of his house at 2 St Mary’s Square, Honley.


The following year the gunroom became the focal point for sale, exchange and some limited restoration of muzzle-loaders. Peter invited Ian McJannett to become a partner and in 1964 the business trading as Peter Dyson & Ian McJannett moved to 31 Church Street. When Ian moved away from the area in 1966 the partnership was reluctantly dissolved and Peter continued on his own from 1967 as Peter Dyson – Specialist Gunsmith. The same year he purchased the adjoining property and his premises from then on were known as 29/31 Church Street.


After his son Andrew was born in 1968 his wife Wendy left her office job and was apprenticed on the bench in 1970. There have been rare instances in the past when it is known that ladies were apprenticed to gunmakers certainly as early as 1770. In the early 1800s one Catherine Christopher was even recorded as being admitted to the Freedom of the Gunmakers Company in the City of London and became a free sister of the City. However, in 1996 Wendy Dyson became the first recorded female Liveryman of the Gunmakers Company.


In 1971 the business became Peter Dyson Ltd. Andrew was apprenticed to the company in 1984 and the following year the old established businesses of Carr Bros and William Golden were acquired. The company was renamed Peter Dyson & Son Ltd in 1989.


When the Royal Armouries moved from the Tower of London to Leeds in Yorkshire they opened a Craft Court gunmakers workshop there in 1996 and Peter Dyson was chosen as its first incumbent. For four years until 2000 he had additional premises there. During that time his Honley business also moved to 3 Cuckoo Lane in 1997.


Today the business specialises in the repair and restoration of old firearms and even holds stocks of Damascus barrel tubes. They make up a small number of muzzle loading weapons for collectors or users, their Baker rifle is particularly popular, whilst Andrew makes superb miniature weapons.


Elderkin & Sons – Spalding


The Elderkin business was set up in 1880 by Thomas W Elderkin at the same 17 Broad Street premises it occupies today. In those days it was a tailoring business but it was Thomas’ passion for shooting that led him into repairing guns as a part time sideline. Alfred Elderkin’s father who ran the business after Thomas’ death in 1901 continued the repairs alongside the store’s general trading which had replaced tailoring. Alfred grew up as a child amongst those guns brought in for repair and this fired him with an enthusiasm to learn more about the trade.


Alfred, known throughout the trade as Alf, was sent to learn his trade with BSA and Skimin & Wood in Birmingham and returned after completing his training c.1930. It was at this point that the shop was turned over to the sporting gun and rifle business and the general store side closed down.


Come the war and Elderkins played their part in the war effort by, inter alia, maintaining the local Home Guard rifles and shotguns. After it was over they could return to building guns under their own name or importing good quality weapons. They made up their own named guns using trade barrels and actions and retaining the trade numbers until the mid 1960s. Alf Elderkin who has been a member of the Long Sufferers Association since 1954 was also elected its annual Chairman in 1994. Around 1970 the business name became Elderkin & Son (Gunmakers)Ltd. Today the shop is run by William Elderkin, great great grandson of the founder and who, although wheelchair bound, is still a keen shot and example to other disabled sportsmen. Although they no longer make guns they have a flourishing repair and second hand trade and in 2003 were again voted Best Gunshop in the Shooting Industry awards. Set out below is a list of the members of the family who have been in the business over the years, with dates where known and their relationships.




Thomas Winkley Elderkin (d. 1901), the founder whose son was


William Ayscough Elderkin, whose son was


Alfred William Elderkin (1908–2004), whose son was


William Lacey Elderkin (1934–1999), whose son is


William Robert Elderkin (1961– ), the present proprietor.





Ford, William – Birmingham


William Ford was a barrel borer working for W W Greener in Birmingham. He showed great aptitude in this craft at a time when, with the introduction of choke boring by W R Pape in 1866, it was an area of great competition and many gunmakers were experimenting to try and outdo their rivals.


Consequently it was natural that he should be chosen to bore the barrels for five of Greener’s winning guns in the trials set up by the Field magazine in 1875 and four years later was to do the same for Lincoln Jeffries’ guns in the 1879 trials.


During the 1880s he did a great deal of work on the chamberless guns designed by Dr Heath for wildfowling using the thin brass ‘Perfect’ cases. In practice he may well have bored many of the guns produced by several members of the Trade to Heath’s design.


His first recorded premises set up in the 1870s were at 4½ (sometimes known as 4a) Weaman Row, St. Mary’s where he stayed until 1885. He then set up the Eclipse Works at 23 Loveday Street briefly until 1889 when he moved again to 15 St. Mary’s Row. Although William died late in 1909 his son A F Ford carried on the business at the same address until 1939 when he made a move to 4 Price Street in 1940.


When he next moved back to No 15 in 1951 he still retained the Price Street address for a couple of years until 1953 and then in 1954 the business became a Limited Company possibly as the result of the amalgamation with James Carr & Sons in 1953. Subsequent to the merger, the joint business moved into Carr’s premises at 10 St. Mary’s Row in 1955. Although the business was to move to the Eclipse Works 96 Potters Hill in 1965, old gun trade archives still give Carr’s address at 10/11 St. Mary’s Row for a year or so after that date. This could be explained either by Carr & Sons retaining them temporarily or just by news of the move not filtering though the system in time.


However whilst at 10 St. Mary’s Row and Potters Hill the records indicated the business as being James Carr & Sons rather than in Ford’s name. This was certainly put right at least by 1971 when the last move was made to 352 Moseley Road where it stayed until it closed its doors in August 1993.


By that stage Alan Thornton had been running the business which he sold to Sir Malcolm Guthrie Bt. on his retirement in 1991. Sir Malcolm still retains the Ford records, details of which are set out in the appropriate section.


Fraser, D & J, Daniel Fraser & Co Ltd – Edinburgh


Daniel Fraser was from Inverness where his father worked as a coach builder until the destruction of a vital access bridge in the winter floods one year forced a move. The family ended up in Edinburgh where after a brief flirtation with the Venetian blind industry, young Daniel was lucky enough to get a seven year apprenticeship with the gunmaker Alexander Henry, who, at that time around 1859, was at premises at 8 South Street. During his apprenticeship Daniel moved with him to his next premises at 12 South Street. After completing his time satisfactorily by 1866, Daniel stayed with Henry until 1878 when he set himself up with his brother John as D & J Fraser at 4 Leith Street Terrace, Edinburgh. John stayed for about ten years before trying to establish his own gunmaking business c.1888 first at 1 Frederick Street until c.1894 and then for a short time at No 15 until c.1897. John was more of a bookkeeper than a practical gunmaker but it seems he ran his own business for almost ten years so must have picked up a reasonable amount of knowledge from his brother.


Although not his first patent, which had been 1559 of 1887 jointly with Alexander Henry, undoubtedly Daniel’s most famous one was 5403 of 1880 for his celebrated falling block rifle. Since Scottish gunmakers with their ready local access to a tremendous amount of deer stalking had many customers looking for new improved rifles with the most modern mechanisms, it was natural there would be a degree of specialisation in this area of firearms development. Daniel, having seen Henry’s early falling block actions and the demand for something new and different, was well placed to bring out his own version of this new style to satisfy customer demand. Up until the time of his death in August 1902, at the age of 57 and the subsequent continuation of the business by his eldest son Donald until 1911, the total production of these rifles in a variety of different calibres was probably just over four hundred to judge from the patent use numbers stamped on each one as set out in Kirton’s book (q.v. Records), and in practice few of these were made after 1902.


Although he made shotguns as well as double and bolt rifles the largest part of Daniels production was of the latter which were sent all over the world. He often used his own design of bullet, the ‘Velox’ with its soft-nosed nickel casing cut longitudinally with four cuts for improved expansion. His .303 Velox cartridge used a rimless case which has sometimes caused confusion to new owners who think in terms of the .303 British rimmed cartridge when this calibre is mentioned.


Rising production costs plus competition, especially from Birmingham, made continued gun and rifle building unviable and in 1911 Daniel’s son Donald closed the factory which at its peak had employed about fifteen craftsmen and perhaps five apprentices. Work was now confined to assembly and stocking up of bought in components and all this was done in a small workshop behind the Leith Street premises until 1916 when Donald went into wartime munitions work in Glasgow and his younger brother James joined the army. With them both otherwise occupied the business was closed for the duration but re-opened briefly in 1918 for about a year at 174 Montgomery Street before the brothers gave up the struggle to keep it going.


Donald and James then teamed up with their old works foreman a Mr McColl and they set up as McColl & Fraser at 15 Bridge Street, Dunfermline at least by 1930, although GB records them at 25 St. James’s Street by 1925, they stayed there for a couple of years before moving to 22 Canmore Street around 1934–36 when the business seems to have closed. Apparently McColl moved to Dicksons in Edinburgh so this may have been a deciding factor.


James Fraser the younger brother then went off and joined up with Alfred Sanders of Maidstone, Kent, apparently taking the business name and goodwill of Daniel Fraser with him. It is not clear precisely when he went there but certainly it was by 1936 and after 1930/31 when there is a record of him at 15 Bridge Street. James was still with Sanders as late as 1966. What happened to Donald is not clear, perhaps he died or retired, which could explain James taking over the name.


An American, Thad Scott acquired the Daniel Fraser name at some stage either from James or his descendants and then in 1984 Bernard J Horton Corcoran took it over from him and set up a new business almost exclusively making rifles which was known as Dan’l Fraser & Co at Peddieston, Cromarty on the Black Isle, not far from Daniel’s birthplace at Inverness. It remained there until J MacNaughton acquired it in 1995. MacNaughtons at that stage had just separated from John Dickson & Son but in 1997 MacNaughtons acquired Dicksons and the joint enterprise was then moved to Dickson’s Edinburgh premises.


Gallyon, W/Gallyon & Sons Ltd – Cambridge


John Henshaw was a gunmaker in Trumpington Street, Cambridge from 1746 until his death in 1792 when his widow continued the business until 1796. William Gallyon was apprenticed to Henshaw and after completing his apprenticeship set up on his own in 1784 although he was already buying in gun components from Birmingham by 1781. His first premises were in Cambridge at Green Street described as No. 14, corner of Gifford Place. In 1796 he was able to succeed to John Henshaw’s well established business. William Gallyon remained at No. 14 until 1850 and was subsequently recorded at 17 Bridge Street in 1852, at 22 Park Street in 1857 and at 66 Bridge Street, Cambridge, certainly from 1863, the address at which the shop was to remain until 1981 when it was transferred to Norwich.


The business has always remained within the control of the Gallyon family and listed above are the various members who ran it or were partners in the business right up to the present time. Its trading style has varied slightly from time to time over the years often in accordance with the initials of the then head of the business. Family archives reveal a number of early variations in the spelling of the surname although that used by the gunmaking business appears to be consistent.


In 1940 the old established business of Thomas Clough of Kings Lynn was acquired by Gallyons and became their Kings Lynn branch at 52 High Street. Those premises had been used as a gunmakers since at least 1894 and remained so until the transfer to Norwich in 1982. No Clough records are known to have survived. Between 1942, when it suffered bomb damage, and 1946 Gallyons ran the business of C S Rosson of Norwich which was managed from their Kings Lynn branch. In 1947 they gave it back to Rosson who later entered a joint cartridge loading enterprise with Charles Hellis of London. The long established Charles Francis gunmaking business of Peterborough, which in 1886 was recorded at 27 Long Causeway and which c.1890 moved to 9 Long Causeway and in the late 1920s moved again to 3 Cumbergate, was acquired by Gallyons in 1951 and although initially carried on under the same name was soon to become the Peterborough branch of Gallyons’ business and remained there until the early 1970s when redevelopment forced a move to 5 Cowgate. Gallyons closed the branch down in 1991 but retained the Francis name. Again no Francis records are known to exist. When the Hellis-Rosson joint cartridge business closed down in 1957 H P Darlow of Bedford bought the business from the receivers and Gallyons re-purchased the Rosson name and premises from them on 1st May 1965. It became Gallyons’ head office situated at 7 Bedford Street, Norwich until 1991 when the shop was sold.


Green, E C – Cheltenham


Although the name E C Green is always linked with the Cheltenham gunmaking business it actually started in Birmingham where Edwin or Edwinson Charles Green, who was born in Tewkesbury c.1842, was recorded at 282 Great Lister Street between 1865 and 1875. He subsequently moved to 16 ½ St. Mary’s Row and finally operated out of 12 Weaman Street between 1886 and 1890.


This was clearly his workshop base although he set up in Cheltenham High Street in 1867 the same year that another member of the family William V Green, possibly a brother, set up for business in George Street, Gloucester, under his own name initially but it appears to have belonged to E C Green by 1870 or shortly afterwards.


There were several members of the Green family in the Birmingham trade and clearly a number were related although we do not know any detail. There were a number of patents taken out by the Greens, the earliest appears to be a provisional one for a sliding breech block No 524 of February 1860 in the joint names of C E & J Green.












	 

	Partnership

	Born

	Died

	Remarks






	1. W Gallyon

	1784-1838

	28/9/1758

	21/3/1838

	 






	2. William Gallyon

	1838-1842

	31/8/1794

	30/9/1842

	Son of 1






	3. William John Gallyon

	1842-1878

	8/8/1829

	11/6/1878

	Son of 1






	4. Mary Anne Gallyon

	 

	6/12/1831

	3/3/1909

	Wife/Widow of 3.






	 

	 

	 

	 

	Latterly t/a M A Gallyon & Son






	5. W J Gallyon

	1878-1906

	21/9/1851

	2/12/1919

	Son of 3 and 4






	6. T P Gallyon

	1893-1930

	9/4/1872

	24/2/1930

	Son of 3 and 4






	7. T F N Gallyon

	1930-1982

	12/8/1912

	3/2/1973

	Son of 6






	8. R T Gallyon

	1965-

	16/7/1943

	 

	Son of 7















E C Green himself certainly registered a patent in 1871, and went on doing so until his last in 1913. Joint patents with an F Green, J Green and R Green are recorded which would indicate family relationships.


They were inventive gunmakers and respected for their products since leading London makers such as Purdey, Lancaster and Westley Richards based in Birmingham were happy to put their name on Green’s guns or use his designs. Probably the most famous of these were his three barrel guns patent 15307 of 9th July 1902 which were usually produced in pyramidal form although certainly one is recorded in flat three configuration.


Although some clues in the records might hint that they were made up as barrels and actions in the white possibly in Germany, and were then finished up by Green as required in fact this was not the case. Anecdotal evidence from old employees states that Green would make them up in small batches in his own workshop. The other design for which the firm was noted was that of their o/u gun patented under Nos 8225 and 14951 of 1912. Strangely the first one recorded in the books was dated 1911! Subsequently Purdeys considered it of such quality that they based their own original o/u design on it and made up a small number until they acquired the rights to the Woodward design. Because of their interest to collectors details of the o/u and three barrel guns recorded in the books or otherwise noted have been extracted and set out separately in the records section.


When E C Green’s son joined the business in 1894 it became E C Green & Son and in the 1890s there were references in the records to a number of guns being supplied to ‘A Edwinson Green Jnr, Windsorton’ and later ‘Mr A Green’. It is not entirely clear if this was in fact the son or another relative but the implication was that the guns were for the Gloucester branch which continued at several addresses until the late 1920s.


The main business which was originally at 87 High Street, Cheltenham, remained there until 1942 and then enjoyed fifteen years in the Strand before several short term premises into the late 1960s when the gunroom side closed down. Latterly the business, which had stopped gun production in 1947, became more of a high quality tool and hardware store with a gunroom attached to it. The tool business carried on until the late 1970s or early 1980s but ceased with the proprietor’s death after a prolonged period of illhealth.


Greener, William & W W – Birmingham


In British Gunmakers Vol. 1 (London Gunmakers) a short history of the above was set out together with a brief outline of the surviving records. Although that history was written with the London end of the business more in mind, it is inevitable that there will be some degree of overlap with the following story of the business over the years and for those who do not have Vol. 1, it is necessary to repeat much of that former history. The opportunity has however been taken to update, fill in some gaps and correct some details contained in that initial history largely arising from the publication in 2000 of Graham Greener’s excellent book The Greener Story, Those who seek greater detail on any aspect of the firm’s past should in the first instance consult Graham’s book. former history. The opportunity has however been taken to update, fill in some gaps and correct some details contained in that initial history largely arising from the publication in 2000 of Graham Greener’s excellent book The Greener Story, Those who seek greater detail on any aspect of the firm’s past should in the first instance consult Graham’s book.
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William Wellington Greener (1834-1921).








The Greener story starts in the Newcastle-on-Tyne area when William Greener was born on 3rd March 1806 in the village of Felling which is now engulfed by Newcastle. William’s father, Joseph, was a tollgate keeper and many of the family were coal miners. As the result of a serious mining accident on 25th May 1812 in which several family members died, Joseph decreed no more of them would follow into that line of work. Young William would watch his mother Ann collecting the toll dues with an old flintlock blunderbuss as back up. (If only debt collecting could be so easy nowadays!) It may well have been this early contact with firearms that got William interested, for when he was 14 years old he was apprenticed to the gunmaker John Gardner of Newcastle who was first recorded at Bigg Market in 1797, moving from there to Collingwood Street in 1815, where William would have joined him around 1821, and then between 1823–37 he was to be found at 130 Pilgrim Street. At the time of writing Vol. 1 in the 1990s, the Author in common with other writers believed the apprenticeship was with Burnand but apparently this was not the case. When he had finished his apprenticeship William went to London to improve his knowledge. He was fortunate to obtain work with John Manton & Son at 6 Dover Street but in 1829, having married his first wife Anne Thorne, he left Manton and returned to his native Newcastle where he set up in business at 29 Collingwood Street and remained until 1844.


One of the difficulties for the trade in those days was that it was largely concentrated in the two centres of London and Birmingham. Many of the specialised skills and raw materials were normally only available in those centres which necessitated a great deal of time spent in travelling round the trade and to and from the Gunmaker’s home town. Realising the business inefficiency in this lifestyle William Greener moved his business in November 1844 to new premises at Rifle Hill, Aston in Birmingham where he was near to both supplies and the trade outworkers he needed. With this move to Birmingham he also established representation in London in 1846 and his first outlet there was established at 25 Gerrard Street, Soho, where it was to remain until in 1852 it moved to 1 Ely Place, Holborn. From 1856–1859 it moved a short distance to 42 Ely Place and Daniel B Harvey was recorded as the agent.


Greener’s business was clearly a success and whilst his better quality weapons were finding a good market in London he was exporting quantities of plainer weapons to overseas markets particularly South Africa, to which he sent a number of Cape rifles. From his early days he built up a good reputation for his harpoon guns with the Scottish Whalers who used the Newcastle port facilities. At a public contest in 1848 at London docks he achieved a then record flight of 120 yards. He received orders for guns for Queen Victoria’s husband, Prince Albert and took the highest award in the 1851 Great Exhibition for guns and barrels.


Alongside his gunmaking prowess he established himself as an authoritative writer on guns and shooting. His first book The Gun in 1834 was followed by The Science of Gunnery in 1842 and later Gunnery in 1858. William Greener was a muzzle loading gunmaker and in 1835 invented the first rifle bullet designed to expand into the bore of a muzzle loading rifle. His invention was rejected subsequently by the Board of Ordnance in favour of the Minié bullet which worked on a similar principle. Eventually he was awarded £1,000 by the Government in 1857 after he justifiably made representations that they had adopted what was essentially his idea.


William registered a number of firearms related patents and invented a wide variety of items from whaling guns to improved mining lamps and even a self-righting lifeboat and level crossing gates. However it was his fierce loyalty to the muzzle loader, when the breech loading guns arrived on the scene in the 1850s, which caused a split with his son, William Wellington Greener (1834–1921) so named after the Duke of Wellington, whom his father held in high esteem. W W Greener having grown up in his father’s business saw that the new breech loading guns were the future and realised that he would have to start on his own if he wanted to develop them since his father was set against them. Accordingly he set up his own business in Birmingham in 1855 and commenced initially to practice under the name W Greener Junior but about 1861 changed it to W W Greener. From 1864–69 he operated from 61/62 Loveday Street.


When his father died on 23rd August 1869 young William was cut out of his father’s will, partly because of his setting up on his own in competition with his father and partly because it seems his father did not entirely approve of his son’s choice of wife! However William was able to raise enough cash to buy parts of his father’s estate including his father’s business and it became W W Greener at St Mary’s Square after he quickly sold off the Rifle Hill premises. From that base it was to gradually spread through Loveday Street to Bath Street by dint of William buying up other gunmakers’ premises as they became vacant. By 1865 he had already invented the top cross bolt, one of the main components of Greener’s treble wedge-fast action, and he continued to improve and develop the breech loading gun, largely based on the newly invented Anson & Deeley style of action. He claimed, not entirely correctly, to have been the inventor of choke boring but was certainly one of the leading improvers and exponents of that new aspect of breech loading guns. His ‘Facile Princeps’ actioned guns were his most famous with the side safety so often encountered on Greeners.


Like his father he also took up the pen and wrote The Modern Breech Loader in 1871 and Choke Bore Guns in 1876 followed by his greatest work The Gun and Its Development in 1881. The latter has had nine editions and reprints. After that he wrote Modern Shotguns (1888) The Breech Loader and How to Use It (1892) and several other works on Rifle Shooting.


The firm established an agency in Paris in 1878 and opened its own branch in London at 68 Haymarket the same year. This London outlet replaced the previous agency arrangements which had fallen into disuse. It was to remain there until 1916 and in the meantime another provincial branch was opened at 27 Silver Street, Hull, when W W Greener took over the business of William S Needler in 1895. Needler had previously been a competitor in the harpoon gun market, which William Wellington had largely tied up. After a short stay he moved the business around 1900 to No. 19 Paragon Street which was to remain there until c.1912 when it moved briefly to 8 Trinity House Lane, Hull. It appears to have closed down with the onset of the First World War. Soon after the move in 1916 from the Haymarket to 29 Pall Mall the company became W W Greener Limited in 1920. Although a 1922 catalogue gives both the Haymarket and Pall Mall addresses this appears to have been a printing error and possibly meant to say ‘formerly of’. By 1929 the Company had moved to 40 Pall Mall where it was to remain until the London branch was closed down in 1965.


W W Greener retired in 1911 and died at Erdington on 25th July 1921. He was buried at Llanaber, near the home he built in Wales and his sons Harry Leyton and Charles E Greener carried on the business. One of the Greener legacies for the shooting sports was the development and production of miniature rifles for target shooting. The firm produced the famous Greener .310 cadet rifle in tens of thousands, many being used by Australian Commonwealth cadets and converted 50,000 Martini service rifles to .22 calibre for the National Rifle Association in furtherance of Lord Roberts Rifle Club movement. This showed its benefits in the early stages of WWI when British infantry regiments rifle shooting had a decidedly unnerving effect on German troops.


After the outbreak of war in 1914, the priority for munitions resulted in the gunmaking part of the business being temporarily discontinued. In December 1914 the firm took over a large factory known as The Tower in Bagot Street which was reconstructed and equipped to produce Belgian pattern Mauser rifles using many Belgian workers and craftsmen who had escaped the Germans. To assist in the speedy and correct installation of their requirements they also acquired an engineering machinery business. As a result rifles were in production within 10 months of the take-over, no mean feat!


In 1916 a 3¼ acre site in Garrison Lane was purchased and an extensive factory completed to cater for the production demands not only of the Ministry of Munitions but also of Allied Governments such as the Russians and Rumanians. They manufactured such widely varying items as machine gun parts, SMLE rifles, charger clips, signalling pistols, aeroplane and bomb dropping components and even naval gun barrels. A subsidiary company, B H Pottier & Co, was also purchased about 1916 to manufacture the necessary bayonets for the new Short Lee Enfield service rifles produced at Garrison Lane. After the war the Government requisitioned the factory which became known as Government Ordnance Factory No. 1. This was a blow for Greener and the family as much of the best modern machinery from their St. Mary’s factory had been moved there to help the war effort.


One of the products the company came up with to help business between the wars was the Martini actioned General Purpose (GP) gun, also known initially as the Gaffer (Ghaffir) gun which in the Gaffer form is better known as the Police gun with a full length forend. This was for use by the Egyptian Ghaffirs, a form of Special Constable, for keeping the peace and seeing off desert raiders or rioters using special brass shot cartridges. Some 37,000 were supplied.


During WWII Greeners were able to produce Verey pistols using the WWI tooling they still had but a simpler and cheaper version using die-cast parts was soon devised. They also made up silencers for Sten guns, fuze pistols and later switched to repairing and renovating WWI P14 and P17 rifles, which were mainly used by the Home Guard, once they became available to replace the assorted shotguns used initially. Various aeroplane spare parts were made up and manufacturing processes undertaken including drilling camshafts for Spitfire engines. Greeners’ old deep barrel boring machinery was able to undertake this latter successfully when several more modern aero engineering businesses were unable to produce the goods!


Immediate post-war work was largely concentrated on producing components for the motor industry whilst waiting for gunmaking materials to be available again. Apart from finishing off pre-war part-finished guns and rifles, virtually the only guns made were Empire and GP models.


When Charles died in 1951 Harry controlled the business until the sale to Webley & Scott Limited in 1965. Then the workforce was split up, Ernest Kempster, the manager of the London shop until it closed, set up on his own at Lamb’s Conduit Street, and the only remaining outward sign of Greeners’ London presence were the curious door handles to the old shop in the form of gunstocks which remained there for many years but have now been replaced. For a short while after the take-over Webleys’ trading style was Webley & Scott Limited (Incorporating W W Greener Limited). This was soon dropped with the subsequent changes within the Webley & Scott organisation.


However this was not the end of Greeners’ business which was acquired by the Harris & Sheldon Group, when they bought Webley & Scott, and for a period Webleys continued to make some Greener models such as the GP. This ceased when Webleys ceased to manufacture shotguns in 1979 and Greeners’ name temporarily ceased to trade. Then Graham Greener a member of the original family and Ken Richardson and his wife of Turner Richards, best known for their gundog equipment, jointly acquired the Greener name from Harris & Sheldon and in 1985 it was reestablished as W W Greener Limited at Belmont Row, Birmingham B4 7RE where a variety of different quality shotguns and rifles were again manufactured to order including a sidelock version of their famous ‘St. George’ gun. The old names of J V Needham and T Murcott are retained within the umbrella of W W Greener. It was through Murcott that Greeners obtained their 68 Haymarket premises in 1878 and the Needham expertise was used to perfect their early ejector work in 1881 after acquiring that company in 1874.


During the life of the original Greener businesses a large collection of firearms and selected items produced by many of the leading gunmakers of the day was gradually amassed. This became known as the Greener Collection and in later years much of it was sold or otherwise came into the hands of collectors around the world. Their trigger mechanism collection of over 30 items is the basis of that in the Author’s possession.


For some years now the reborn Greener business has concentrated on building only best guns at their Barnt Green works under the supervision of David Dryhurst, who was the last apprentice taken on by the old Greener business. He is helped by the highly experienced Richard Tandy. Remaining stocks of GP gun spares are sold through the Turner Richards business. This small but highly skilled workforce are again making both best sidelock and boxlock guns on the ‘Facile Princeps’ design, which was originally discontinued after WWII, and they believe their products have now returned to that standard of ‘Easily the Best’.

















Haygarth, C H – Caithness


Colin Haygarth was born in Birkenhead in 1930 and trained as a gunsmith with the Liverpool firm of W C Carswell between 1946 and 1952 which included time off for his National Service.


Initially he set up on his own in a small workshop at the back of the family home but rapid expansion of the business necessitated larger premises by 1962. The old village shop in Dunnet, 12 miles west of John O’Groats, which had closed just after the end of WWII, was purchased and reopened as the Cottage Gunshop, Dunnet in 1964, perhaps Caithness’ first full time gunshop. At first it was managed until 1978 by Colin’s parents, who had moved up to the area, and the fishing side especially was built up by his father who was a keen fisherman.


Colin has always been particularly interested in cartridges and their loading and has a very fine collection of antique specimens. He imported his first loading machine from the USA in 1969 to be followed by an Italian one in 1973 and a further and larger one in 1977 with printing and packaging machines in the mid 1980s. By 1988 cartridge sales were in the region of 1 million including supplies to the Castle of Mey estate, the late Queen Mother’s summer residence who had been a customer since 1964. In 1991 she granted C H Haygarth & Sons, their name since Colin’s second son Ross joined the firm, her Royal Warrant as gun and cartridge maker, believed a unique honour in the Gun Trade.


The business also made a few sidelock and boxlock guns and bolt action stalking rifles to order, mostly on the ’98 Mauser action but some on new BSA ones and a few Männlicher-Schonauer ones as well. Today they still build bolt rifles for discerning customers across the world.


In the 1960s Colin was in the Scottish Clay Pigeon team where one of his teammates was John Young Stewart, better known in later years as Jackie Stewart the racing driver. When his Gleneagles shooting school was opened the first cartridges to be fired there were loaded by Colin.


Hinton, George – Taunton


George Hinton, like his father before him, was part of the Birmingham Gun Trade in the 19th Century. He worked for Joseph Needham and was responsible for both making up the early Needham ejector guns and ensuring that they functioned as well as they did. The story has it that it was with the profits he made from that vital work for Needham that he was able to move to the more congenial surroundings of Taunton in Somerset and purchase the gunmaking business of George Sheppard at 54 High Street. This was certainly between 1885 and 1889 when he was recorded at 5 Fore Street as G. Hinton and some years after the purchase by Greeners of the Needham business in 1874, since he also helped Greener with his ejector work for a while. George latterly became interested in local politics and in 1913 was Mayor of Taunton. Hinton’s sons followed him into the business and it became George Hinton & Sons at least by 1924 and was later incorporated.


The 5 Fore Street address remained the business premises until they briefly became No. 7, an address recorded in 1942 and possibly as a result of the hostilities. Certainly by 1946 they were back at No. 5 and were to remain there until the late 1970s. Late in 1946 Charles W Hellis, having disposed of his interest in the London gunmakers Charles Hellis & Sons Limited to his brother Stuart following his father’s death earlier that year, purchased the Hinton business at No. 5 and ran it until his death in 1980. His son John M L Hellis continued the business thereafter. By February 1976 the premises had moved to 62 Bridge Street and then again in c.1985 to 3 Chelwood Drive, although by that stage they were no longer retail premises.


Holloway & Co / G & S Holloway Ltd – Birmingham


The death in February 1994 of Graham Clive Holloway of G & S Holloway brought to a close a chapter in the history of the Birmingham Gunmakers that had started in the 19th Century. Although the original business of Holloway & Co was not always under the control of the family the subsequent firm of G & S Holloway always seems to have remained so. The first member who the family can trace back was George Holloway (1818–1904). It is probable that he worked in the business which at that stage went under the name of Holloway & Co and indeed could possibly have started it. In turn his son George O’Connor Holloway (1846–1920) was definitely in the business which from the 1880s onward had premises at 10/12/14 Vesey Street, Birmingham. G O Holloway is believed to have built new premises there c.1891.


In 1901 the business was sold by the then owner H L England to T (Tommy) Naughton, the previous manager, who traded thereafter from the Vesey Street gunworks initially as Holloway & Co and then under the name of Holloway & Naughton Ltd., which was registered in early 1909. England’s services appear to have continued to be retained despite the sale, since in 1907 he registered a patent for the benefit of Holloway & Co, No. 27065 for an integral cam for an A&D action. The Holloway & Naughton business continued separately under that name and was subsequently acquired by Mr Skimin of Skimin & Wood, a former works manager of Holloway & Naughton. They in turn were taken over by F J Wiseman together with the Standard Sporting Gun Co c.1965.


After the sale to Naughton, George Percival Holloway (1871–1951), father of Graham, and Sydney Leonard Holloway (1880–1916) sons of G O Holloway, set up in partnership on their own also in Vesey Street in 1901/2 under the name of Holloway & Sons and by 1920 their factory became known as the Imperial Works. In the early years, before Holloway & Co’s change of name to Holloway & Naughton Ltd., there was frequent confusion in the trade between Holloway & Co and Holloway & Sons so the change helped to resolve that problem. The name of Holloway & Sons itself changed around the end of the Great War to G & S Holloway, possibly on the death of Sidney. Whilst their address at the time was recorded as ‘Loveday Street Works’ in practice they remained at Vesey Street right through until George Percival’s death in 1951 when the business moved to 50/51 Price Street. The business had become a limited company within the years just prior to the move to Price Street. Graham seems to have first joined the business in the 1920s when his father was running it after Sydney’s death.


G & S Holloway were largely makers to the trade and had a fine reputation for sound guns. They seem to have had a particularly strong link with the Scottish gunmakers, almost all of whom seem to have used their services, both before and after WWII.


Soon after the move to Price Street the business diversified and in addition to the gunmaking side started up a department as manufacturing coppersmiths which was kept entirely separate. In 1964 when both sides of the business were active the directors were G C Holloway, A N Holloway and a Mr F G Elliot who was exclusively dealing with the copper side of the business.


Expansion of the business by the late 1960s resulted in their taking in the adjoining property and the address becoming 50/54 Price Street, still labelled as the Imperial Works although that form of address appears to have been dropped by the middle 1970s. About 1978 the business moved again to smaller premises at 63 Price Street where they were to remain until finally closing down after the death of G C Holloway. To all intents and purposes production of new Holloway guns had virtually finished by the time of the move to No. 63 although repairs and tradework continued right through to the end. The surviving records start in 1902 and continue until the late 1970s. As mentioned in the records section the G & S Holloway name and goodwill is now owned by C H Smith & Son of 63 Price Street, Birmingham.


Graham Holloway (b.1912) was not only a pillar of the Birmingham guntrade and a fine craftsman but additionally one of the longest serving and most highly respected guardians of the Birmingham Proof House, a position he held since 26th May 1938 until his death almost 56 years later.


Horsley, Thomas – York


For the origins of this famous Yorkshire gunmaking business which was in the control of the founder’s family from start to finish, we must go back to the early years of the 19th Century. Thomas Horsley, the founder of the firm, was born on July 17th 1810 the son of a cheese and bacon factor and was sent to learn the business with the gunmaker Richard Brunton who was recorded in the Stonegate, York between 1821 and 1830.


Although it has been suggested that young Horsley took over his master’s business in 1830 other evidence indicates that in fact he went back to his home town of Doncaster to start his own business in 1832 in Baxtergate. He only remained there for a couple of years before returning to York to 48 Coney Street in January 1834. He was to stay there until April 1856 when he moved to 10 Coney Street. Thomas, who died in 1882 handed the business on to his son, also Thomas (1844 – 17th March 1915), and it was on his death that the Coney Street premises were vacated in 1915 and the firm was to move to 20 Blossom Street, York. There it was to remain through WWI until in 1933 it moved to 102 Micklegate which was to be its final address. Thomas Junior who continued running the business almost until his death also had a son named Thomas (1869–1954). He and three of his four brothers continued the business between them until Thomas’s death in 1954 whereupon Tony Horsley took it on until it finally closed down in 1959. For a short period c.1892–1898 there was a branch of the business in Doncaster but thereafter it was taken over by their manager D. J. Smithson who ran it under his own name. The Castle Museum at York has a number of the Horsley tools and artefacts on permanent display.


Fortunately the Horsley records have survived and are in the possession of a member of the Horsley family. David Baker the well known firearms writer has a copy and has very kindly provided details of them which the Author has set out on page 113. He advises that the quality of record keeping in many instances left something to be desired and that this was especially noticeable after the turn of this century. From 1918 onwards, as can be seen from the serial numbers, production of guns dwindled right away and few dates or details were recorded. The last entry in 1948 was the only entry for that year.


Ilsley, Arthur – Birmingham


Arthur Ilsley (born 1885) first worked in the Birmingham trade in 1899 for Armstrong Stevens & Son at 15 Whittall Street, a business set up in the year of his birth. Subsequently he worked for one of the Ward family of gunmakers, probably Ward & Sons, before setting up on his own as a finisher towards the end of the first decade of the 20th Century. His first recorded premises were at 131 Steelhouse Lane for a couple of years just before WWI. His other moves are recorded in the alphabetical index which indicates that he ceased business c.1932 although he himself survived until 1976. During his working life he achieved a good name in the trade as a maker of best quality guns.


Lewis, G E – Birmingham


George Edward Lewis was born in Birmingham on 23rd January 1829. He was apprenticed in the Gun Trade and learned all the different skills needed of a 19th Century craftsman building muzzle loading guns. Just as he completed his training the new-fangled breechloading guns were starting to appear, maybe it was this altogether new style of gun that made him decide to play it safe and specialise in that branch of the trade that would be required by both muzzle and breechloaders, namely engraving. As he started out on this course of action in Bath Street in 1850 he must have set up virtually as soon as his seven year apprenticeship finished since apprenticeships were normally entered into at the age of 15 or 16. Examples of his early engraving work were preserved in the works at least until 1996 and possibly later.


However, G E Lewis soon returned to the gunmaking side of the business as well as engraving since from 1859 he was recorded at 32 and 33 Lower Loveday Street as a Gun, Rifle and Pistol maker. The Founder at some stage organised London agencies at Duke Street, Manchester Square, Paddington Street, Marylebone and 172 Strand but these were closed in 1873.


The business remained at Lower Loveday Street until local redevelopment in the 1980s resulted in a move in 1989 to Unit SF2 at 63 Price Street, Birmingham 4B. It was to remain there until 9th August 1996 when a move was made to Halesowen, West Midlands.


During his life G E Lewis had introduced the trademark gun called the ‘Gun of the Period’ in 1878 for which the firm is perhaps best known. This was also the period of the great international exhibitions in which Lewis gained Gold, Silver and Bronze Medals as well as Honours and Diplomas. He exhibited at London in 1862, Paris in 1867, Vienna in 1873, Paris again in 1878 where he was awarded Honours, Sydney in 1879/80, Melbourne in 1880/81 and Calcutta in 1884.
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Extract from G E Lewis’ catalogue for his ‘Gun of the Period’.








The Founder died on 17th January 1917 leaving two sons, the elder again G E Lewis and the younger E C Lewis, to run the business between them. Whilst George ran the business side his brother, who was a noted local rifle shooter, shot and regulated all the weapons produced by them to ensure their high quality of accuracy and regularity of pattern. The firm were also early proponents of magnum small bores, no doubt with an eye to overseas markets.


E C Lewis had two sons, the elder E V Lewis followed in his father’s footsteps and became an accomplished shot serving with distinction in the 1914–18 War. The younger son, yet another George E Lewis was appointed a Guardian of the Birmingham Proof House in 1951 and ran the business until his death aged 83 in June 1988. At that stage John Harris, an expert stocker, but versed in all branches of the trade, who had stocked many Lewis guns and was a good friend of George acquired the business and moved it to Price Street. He ran the business from there until he moved it on 9th April 1996 to his home workshop at Halesowen, West Midlands. It was from there that he reluctantly decided to offer the business for sale as a going concern and it was put up for auction and sold by Holts in their December 2003 sale when Grant Dempsey of Broxbourne purchased the business.


Lloyd, David – Kettering


David Llewellyn Lloyd (1910–96) was a specialist bolt action rifle designer who strove to perfect a stalking rifle which would not lose its zero however many knocks it received.


He first started making up his design of rifle in the 1930s using the .240 calibre cartridge with ¾ inch diameter telescope sights. The war interrupted his efforts and although a highly experienced pilot he was adjudged too old at 29 to take an active part and became the senior controller at Tangmere fighter station in Sussex, famous for its role in the Battle of Britain. Having met his wife Evadne in 1940 they married in 1945 and went to live at Pipewell Hall at Kettering in Northants where he spent the rest of his life and where he set up a production and testing facility for his rifles.


His design incorporated a low mounted telescope which was almost entirely enclosed in a protective steel sleeve the underside of which had a curved dovetail cut in it which pivoted sideways to fit it to a corresponding dovetailed boss on the rifle. The mount was then normally locked in its final position with Allen screws when its zero had been checked. In effect the telescope became an integral part of the rifle and could withstand knocks that might well have affected rifles with traditional telescope mounts. David Lloyd espoused small calibre H.V. cartridges such as the .244 magnum which he developed by necking down a .375 H & H belted rimless magnum case. Holland & Holland then took it up and made a number of rifles on it. David was also an advocate of the .264 magnum cartridge and made up several of his rifles in that calibre. Although he normally used the Mauser ’98 pattern action as the basis for his rifles he used the Sako action for the rifles in .243 calibre that he produced. His telescope mount system was highly regarded in the trade and several makers produced rifles using it or close variants of it to good effect including John Wilkes. The Author can well remember seeing a three shot group from a Lloyd type rifle by those makers all within a sixpence at 100 yards.


Stan Armstrong, formerly of Armstrongs of Nottingham until his retirement, gave much assistance to David Lloyd and advised that after his death there were some thirty rifles still at varying stages of production which the family were planning eventually to complete.
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MacNaughton’s current Frederick Street premises after the amalgamation with John Dickson.








MacNaughton, James – Edinburgh


MacNaughton is first recorded at 33 George Street, Edinburgh in 1864 and his first patent, that for his forward sliding drop down double barrel gun action sometimes known as his ‘Lockfast’ design of 1867, was granted in the short period he remained there. He moved on to 26 Hanover Street South in 1869 which was to be his address until just after the turn of the century.


Undoubtedly his greatest contribution to British gunmaking was his patent round action design of trigger plate lockwork No 2848 of 1879 which covered both a side by side and falling block mechanism. The latter was held to be in breach of Alex Henry’s patent falling block design and only a small number were made but the former was the forerunner of all the round action guns and rifles that are still made today. This system has to all intents and purposes been the private property of the Scottish gunmakers, Dickson brought out his version in 1887 and as recently as 1992 David McKay Brown patented an o/u version developed from Dicksons’ designs.


James MacNaughton’s round action in side by side form was a lever cocking mechanism usually stocked up with the distinctive and very elegant bar in wood system, a legacy of the hammergun era, and was given the name the ‘Edinburgh Gun’. The very first commercially produced example serial No. 736 bearing patent use No. 1 was sold to Sir Derrick Dunlop of Bavelaw Castle, Balerno, Midlothian having won the Gold Medal for design at the Great Edinburgh Exhibition of 1886. This gun was subsequently sold at auction in 1998 when it was re-acquired by the MacNaughton business, a fitting home for such an historic shotgun.


Sometime just after 1905 MacNaughton’s address was to change yet again to 36 Hanover Street and at the same time the business was running a branch at Perth which was recorded there between c.1897 and 1909. James himself died aged 66 in 1905 and it could well have been this that prompted the business name to change to James MacNaughton & Sons at this period. The premises at No. 36 were certainly occupied until around 1940, possibly later but in 1947 John Dickson & Son succeeded to the business and initially continued to make up MacNaughton guns whilst the stocks of parts, raw materials and old craftsmen remained and then moved it into their own premises.


However the MacNaughton name was not destined to sink gently into oblivion. In 1995 Logie Gunmakers bought the name and records from Dicksons and restarted production at Forres, Moray. Not only that but a couple of years later they came back having in the meantime bought the Dan’l Fraser business and acquired Dicksons as well and renamed the Edinburgh business Dickson & MacNaughton at 21 Frederick Street. One of those closely involved with these recent changes was Barry Wilcox who started with B E Chaplin in Winchester under Alfred Gritt, then moved to Perth where he was a founder member of Hendry Ramsay & Wilcox in 1993 and then on via Logie Gunmakers to MacNaughtons in 1995. In 2001 branch premises and a workshop were set up at Dunkeld and new bar in wood guns are in production.


Monk, W H/Henry – Chester


William Henry Monk was apprenticed to Thomas Lowe in Chester in 1849. He was recorded as W H Monk at 65 Foregate Street in 1868 and was still there in 1878. He was noted at 77 Foregate Street in 1892 and at 75/77 in 1902 when additional premises at Queen Street were mentioned. Interestingly at that stage the business was described as ‘Gun and Cycle maker and Auto garage’, which does not appear to have been long lived. When Monk died in 1920 and his son Henry took charge, the business became known as Henry Monk and was recorded at 77 Foregate Street only and apparently only as a gunmaker. After Henry’s death in 1940 the business changed hands again and became Henry Monk (Gunmakers) Ltd after new owners acquired it c.1965. The move to the current 8 Queen Street, Chester premises from 75 Foregate where it had been in the 1970s took place in January 1985.


Osborne, Charles – Birmingham


Charles Osborne is first recorded at 1 Lichfield Street, Birmingham from 1845–54, although he appears to have claimed to have been established in 1838. In 1855 he moved to 12/13 Whittall Street and in 1895 he added both No. 14 and additional property at 16/17 Sand Street. From 1877 the trading style had been Charles Osborne & Co and from 1896 onwards Charles Osborne & Co Ltd.


He established London premises at 3 Broad Street Buildings from 1881–84 then at 7 Whitehall Place 1885–92 and 2 Great Scotland Yard 1893–1908. His last London address was at 10 York Buildings, Adelphi 1909–28. After the purchase of the business in 1928 by Skimin & Wood it moved back to their premises at 10/14 Vesey Street, Birmingham.


Osborne also had Scottish premises in both Edinburgh and Glasgow in the 1880s. The Osborne name appears to have ceased trading after WWII possibly in the 1950s. Skimin & Wood’s business was acquired by F J Wiseman c.1965.


Pape, W R – Newcastle-upon-Tyne


William Rochester Pape was born 1st August 1831 at Amble, Northumberland, the son of James Pape and Dorothy Rochester. Although William Pape built his first recorded gun which the records state was finished only on the 7th March 1857, trade labels claim that the firm was established in 1830. In fact this was the date when his father’s business as a game dealer and fishing tackle vendor started in Collingwood Street and with whom the young William worked prior to starting the gunmaking business at 44 Westgate Street in 1857. The previous year (1856) he had married Dorothy Crawford and then in 1862 he moved his new business to 29 Collingwood Street and 36 Westgate Street, a corner property with frontage to both and the former residence of Sir John Fife. There was also a branch outlet briefly at 16 Bondgate from 1864 until c.1871/2.
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W R Pape’s Collingwood Street premises, with Westgate Street on the right, decorated for the coronation of King Edward VII after the death of Queen Victoria in 1901.








William Pape is perhaps best remembered as being the inventor and patentee (29th May 1866 No. 1501) of the choke boring system which Greener went on to develop. Pape was also the winner of the London gun trials in 1858, 1859, 1866 and 1875. The earlier victories perhaps suggesting initial experimentation with methods of improving the shooting qualities of his guns.


Apart from the choke boring patent other patents were registered. That of 1866 also included a single bite snap action, two in 1867 (Nos. 594/provisional and 2488) were respectively for an extractor and strikers and for an action, extractor and striker. In 1870 No. 752 was for a further striker and in 1874 No. 1645 was for a barrel bolting action. However Pape’s inventive mind did not confine itself entirely to firearms related inventions. In 1894 and after his retirement in 1888, he applied for three patents, the first for a barrel and chamber cleaner (2327) and then two more for draught excluders for doors (2799) and windows for Railway Carriages (3156). After William retired his son Victor Pape continued the business. He moved it to 21 Collingwood Street in 1902, which were to be the final premises until 1935 when he pursued other business interests at the same address using the Pape name. Then after a couple of years he moved out and his business venture closed down c.1940.


When the founder retired in 1888 much of the spark seems to have gone out of the enterprise which won its last award of a Diploma of Merit at the Glasgow Exhibition that year. Although William lived on till 1923, when he succumbed after a road accident, he did not live to see the closedown of the business. Perhaps it was better that way. In 1935 the new firm of Bagnall & Kirkwood was formed with all Pape’s former craftsmen to carry on the gunmaking business and traditions and happily it continues to this day.


Patstone & Cox (Ltd) W Cox (& Son Ltd) Hammond Bros – Southampton


John Cox is first recorded at 13 High Street, Southampton, Hampshire in 1843–51 although he claimed to be established in 1830. His next move was to 7 Bernard Street 1854–59, a property which was to remain in the business as it developed until about 1937/38. It was then renumbered 44 in the 1920s and apparently used by the family for other business part of that time.


It seems likely that John died around 1859/60 since the next record is for Mary Ann Cox at the Bernard Street address in 1864 and then she and Son c.1878 so it is likely she was his widow. A move to 28 High Street was made c1894 and the business became W Cox & Son Ltd just before WWI.


John Patstone was first recorded at 25 High Street, Southampton around 1870 and became Patstone & Son around 1897. Patstone was awarded a silver medal at the International Inventions Exhibition held in London in 1885 for ‘Excellence of Workmanship and cheapness of Firearms.’ He was able to purchase the freehold of his premises in February 1906. In 1926 the business was acquired by W Cox & Son Ltd but remained trading under its own name until 1940 when bomb damage to Cox’s premises only a couple of doors along on the other side of the Star Hotel, forced both into the same premises. From that point the name became Patstone & Cox and Patstone & Cox Ltd in 1949, the name it was known by until it closed down in 1982. However for the last twelve years before then there was a trading company Patstone & Cox (Sports) Ltd which was the shop front revealing the wider aspects of the retail business.


In 1931 Cox’s acquired the Winchester business of Hammond Bros, first recorded as Isaac Hammond at 26 High Street in 1829 which had several addresses over the following years until it settled in Jewry Street in 1854 and then became Henry & Edwin Hammond (presumably sons of Isaac) around 1870 and Hammond Bros c.1878. It apparently continued to trade under its own name from 40 Jewry Street until around 1970 and then re-appeared briefly sometime prior to 1976 at Andover before closing down. By this stage Hammond Bros was in different ownership as Cox’s only owned it until shortly after WWII when they sold it to J V Beale.


There were a number of other gun businesses in the locality over the years with the surname Cox, such as A Cox, G Cox, G T Cox, D Cox, E Cox and Cox & McPherson, all of whom were apparently members of the family. A few guns were even put out with the name Cox & Clarke from the Southampton premises, an unauthorised bit of freelancing by the then manager Mr Clarke. When naming up guns the business only used Cox, Patstone, or briefly, Hammond and Patstone & Cox was only put on very few near the end of production. See the records for more detail of this.


Powell, William – Birmingham


There were two or three Joseph Simmons in the Birmingham Gun quarter in 1802. One teamed up in partnership with one of the Howell family of gunmakers as Simmons & Howell in 1802 in the High Street and later in 1807 continued the business in his own name into the 1830s. Another went into partnership with young William Powell the same year and also in the High Street where they were to continue until 1812 in the midst of the Napoleonic war. It was the death of Joseph that year that resulted in the firm becoming known just as William Powell and it was to remain at the same address until 1822. An order around the time of Joseph’s death for muskets for the army at 10 shillings and sixpence apiece, which they reputedly used at the battle of Waterloo, no doubt took William’s mind off the loss of his former partner and kept him busy for a while. It would be nice to think that somewhere around the world some of them still survive.


William Powell soon established an excellent reputation for finely finished guns and rifles, indeed he has often been referred to as the Purdey of Birmingham, and as a result he soon needed larger premises than those at 3 Bartholomew Row to which he had moved for three years or so in 1822. Those he chose were at 49 High Street and Carrs (originally known as Cares) Lane. William brought his son into the firm which became William Powell & Son in 1847. Over the years the numbering at Carrs Lane changed from 9½ to 11 and subsequently to 13 around 1870. Although the numbering changed again at the turn of the 20th Century to 25 Carrs Lane, Peter & David Powell, the current owners, advise that the premises have actually remained on the same site throughout. Just before WWII in 1936 the business name changed again to William Powell & Son (Gunmakers) Ltd, the name they still trade under today.


Having started out in the days of the flintlock, indeed a beautiful working miniature flintgun made by their ancestor is lovingly preserved by the business today, they moved through the percussion and pinfire eras and in the 1860s and 70s contributed several patents of which their lift up toplever snap action is probably the best known. They still build best sidelock and A & D guns using only the best outworkers to maintain their high standards. At the same time, realising their prohibitive cost to most potential customers for an English made game gun, in 1987 they introduced their Heritage range. These were carefully selected guns in a variety of designs made abroad to their high specification that could be tailored and finished to the customer’s requirements at a more affordable price. Not only did they make this innovation but have for some years been operating one of the best mail order businesses in today’s gun trade with their annual catalogues widely circulated in the sporting community. This was enabled by the major reorganisation and expansion of their premises which became 35/37 Carrs Lane in 1976.


The Powell business and family have had a long association with the Birmingham Proof House established in 1813. From a very early stage they were and are still today involved with the Proof Authorities, having over the years provided many Guardians and Chairmen of both the Guardians and of the various proof house subsidiary committees, most recently Peter Powell was Chairman of the Guardians from 1993–2002. Beside their proof house work, generations of Powells have also been represented on what is now the Gun Trade Association, its Council and various committees looking after the interests and direction of the Trade in general, all entirely voluntarily. The William Powell around in 1896, when his address was recorded as Carrs Lane, Bull Street, was on the executive of the Gunmakers Association as it was then known, having that year changed its name from the Armourers Club. This is particularly interesting insofar as the same year an organisation known as the Birmingham and Provincial Gunmakers was established for similar purposes and the two only merged in 1912. For William to be in such a position in what was essentially at that stage a London Trade organisation shows their high regard for his business.


T T Proctor Ltd – Wilmslow


Trevor Proctor was apprenticed and practised as a tool maker until recession in the industry in the 1970s left him redundant. He took up employment with a retail gunshop Woods of Wilmslow in Cheshire, became its manager and after three years was able to purchase the business. In 1976 he set himself up as T T Proctor Ltd at 78 Water Lane, Wilmslow and it was shortly afterwards that he started to build rifles. During his time with Woods he had used his toolmaking skills to repair and replace parts on guns and rifles, but his frustrating search for what he imagined as the perfect stalking rifle led him in 1978 to build his own. Not only did he get what he wanted but he then won several British Deer Society shooting competitions with it which gave him welcome publicity and led to further work.


One of the avenues his early publicity opened up was a link with Interarms to develop a military sniping rifle and this also led to a supply of first class barrels for his sporting rifles.


A safari trip to Zambia with one of his own .375 H & H bolt rifles ended up with a new Zambian record Cape buffalo to his credit and a deal whereby he traded his rifle for a free safari! On top of that he got plenty of local publicity for his rifles amongst the professional hunters and as a result more orders from them and their wealthy clients.


Although he has made up a double shotgun for a very special customer he really confines himself mainly to bolt rifles in big game calibres. However in 2002 he started making the occasional double rifle too. Most of the bolt rifles carry his own pattern of scope mounts designed, like the David Lloyd rifles, to take considerable punishment and still hold their zero.


In 1984 he moved to different premises at 88a Water Lane where he himself does almost all his work in house except for the engraving and inlaying of his rifles. He also undertakes repairs and refurbishment to customers’ guns and rifles.


K D Radcliffe Ltd – Colchester


This Colchester based gunsmithing business was established in 1787 at 150 High Street apparently by a man named Woodcock who together with his family kept it going until 1835 when Richard Howe, already established since 1805 in Head Street, acquired the business. Howe had himself succeeded to the gun business of the Hunt family in Head Street in 1804/5 which had been in existence there at least since 1791 when Lewis Hunt was recorded at that address to be followed by Judith Hunt in 1804. George William Bales was the next owner from 1845–70 who also had premises in Ipswich. His daughter married J S Boreham who took over the business in 1871.


Kenneth Dudley Radcliffe was apprenticed to Boreham for four years in 1893. Presumably he had some initial training elsewhere as apprenticeships were normally seven years, but interestingly he paid nothing for his first year’s apprenticeship, £5.00 for his second and third years and the sum of £15.00 for his final year after which in 1898 he also took the business over himself under his own name. His brother Frank V Radcliffe joined him in the rented premises (£100.00 p. a. plus rates, etc) and started the family connection which remains to this day. Indeed there can be few if any British gunmakers who could boast that their premises have remained unchanged in the same profession for so long.


The business had its own shooting grounds at Sheepen Road started by Boreham which the Radcliffes moved to Turner Road a mile from North Station just outside Colchester in 1903 and a few years later c.1908 a sixty foot steel tower was erected there. These were to remain their shooting grounds until 1956 when they were removed, complete with steel tower, to the present location at Abberton Village. In the 1960s additional woodland and shooting area was purchased to enhance the shooting grounds.


The early years were not easy, they had hardly got their feet under the table when first the South African or Boer War broke out followed not long after by the First World War from 1914–18. These both caused considerable hardship in the industry and to help the finances in 1920 the premises were partially let to a firm of dyers and cleaners and it would not be until 1961 that the business was able to recover them and enlarge the shop area. There was also a branch of the business at Molden in Essex for some years until the early 1960s but that was closed down after the death of the manager Mr Pike.


Peter Kenneth Radcliffe, son of the founder, joined the business in 1927 and was immediately apprenticed to Howard Davies in his cellar workshop at 63 Cannon Street, London where he spent much of the next four years, after which Davies went down to Winchester in 1932 to run Bernard Chaplin’s new shop initially under the Davies name.


The Radcliffe business became a limited company in April 1936 with K D Radcliffe the Managing Director until his death in 1952 when P K Radcliffe succeeded him. Frank Radcliffe only retired in the early 1960s and died in 1968 just after Robert Radcliffe, son of Peter, had joined the company in September 1967.


Robert was then apprenticed to Churchill (Gunmakers) for five years and took over the reins when his father was forced to retire c.1986 through ill-health.


Richards, William Westley – Birmingham


It was in 1812 that William Westley Richards, then aged 22, started a gun and pistol manufactory behind 82, High Street, Birmingham, overlooking the old Bull Ring and parish church of St. Phillips. William was born in 1788 into a family which had been both active and indeed flourishing in Birmingham for at least a century before his birth. The Richards family had over the years been merchants, silversmiths and jewellers and in the 17th and 18th Centuries various members of the family were gun or barrel makers. William had two brothers and two sisters. The eldest brother, Bingham, was born in 1780 and is believed to have become a lawyer, whilst the next brother, Theophilus, was born in 1786. Then came William, followed by a younger sister, Caroline, born in 1792 and another sister who died young in 1810. William’s father was also named Theophilus and was a driving force with William in the setting up of the Birmingham Proof House in 1813, the year after the Westley Richards firm commenced business. Birmingham Proof House records reveal that, inter alia, one ‘Theophelus Richards’ was appointed onto a committee on behalf of the Birmingham gun trade on 1st April 1813 to obtain what was to become the 1813 Gun Barrel Proof Act.


A picture of the Richards shop front taken from Wrightson’s Directory of Birmingham published in 1818, shows the premises as being used for the sale of a number of different items of local Birmingham manufacture. It is clearly labelled at the top with the words ‘Silversmiths Jewellers and Cutlers’ and furthermore it states that the business had been established for more than half a century.
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The very first Anson & Deeley boxlock gun ever made. Patented 11th May 1875.








In default of clear evidence to the contrary the most likely explanation is that young William used available space at the rear of the premises for his manufacturing processes and then sold his guns and pistols through the front shop in conjunction with the other goods dealt in by the Richards family general trading firm.


The siting of No. 82 was particularly fortunate for William, since not only was there room to increase his factory space as his requirements grew, but also sufficient depth to the site to allow for a shooting range to test his guns and rifles. This was a tremendous advantage and the practice was continued right the way through until the High Street premises were vacated in 1898 and thereafter also at the present factory.


By all accounts William Westley Richards was a practical businessman with an open mind and an alert brain to complement it, always on the lookout for better ways of overcoming the day-to-day problems of both design and production. He was very benevolent, not only to the local poor, but also to his workmen who clearly held him in deep esteem. William married Anne Barlow, daughter of John Barlow of Acton Trussel in Staffordshire and they had a son, Westley Richards, born 8th August 1814. Later William was to marry a second time to Harriet Seale and they also had a son, Charles, Westley’s half brother. They had two further sons: George, who died in 1863 aged 35 and William, who died in 1843 probably in his early teens.


When William first started out on his new enterprise in 1812, he arrived on the scene when the changeover was being made from the traditional flintlock guns to the new percussion systems invented by Forsyth. It will be no surprise to learn that he was one of the first gunmakers to obtain a licence from Forsyth for the manufacture of his patent metallic caps for much of William’s earliest design thinking was in relation to improving the priming and detonation process. Two designs he introduced in 1831 were in relation to the improved safety to the shooter by way of shielding the exploding cap on the nipple from the shooter’s eyes and in the specific design of the cap itself to improve the speed and sureness of detonation.


William remained very much involved with the firm into the 1860s, although by then much of the practical management had devolved on his son Westley, who had joined the firm at an early age and had largely taken over from his father by 1840. Latterly both Westley and his half brother Charles, until his early death in 1871, were exercising joint management, initially under their father’s eye. During the first hundred years or so of the firm’s existence, continuity of management was carefully nurtured and in practice only five individuals held the reins of power. William the founder handed on the business to his son Westley who, in turn, handed it on to John Deeley the Elder, from whom the Chairmanship passed on his death in 1913 to his son George Dawson Deeley and the management in 1899 to Leslie Taylor who was in control of the business until 1930
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Side view of the first Anson & Deeley boxlock gun.








The sudden death of his wife Emma in a hunting accident very early in their marriage affected Westley tremendously and he immersed himself even more deeply in the business as a reaction. At one stage he even moved into the factory and lived for a time in two small rooms there. Westley, as he gradually took over the day to day running of the business, was a much harder taskmaster than his father The result was that, whilst his father was loved by his workmen, the son was feared but respected by them. It is said with justification that Westley Richards, over a period of 30 years, gave the shooting world a series of brilliant mechanical inventions which did more for the practical advancement of gunnery than any other man of his time.


Westley, and several other well-known engineers of the day, realised the future importance of rifling and set about researching and improving their knowledge of this subject. He corresponded with Isambard Kingdom Brunel and was also in contact with Sir Joseph Whitworth and helped him produce the six-sided rifling with one turn in 20 inches. Westley was the first to use it in weapons of his own manufacture in co-operation with Whitworth. The latter exploited his hexagonal rifling whilst Westley developed an octagonal version in the continuous process of development.


Westley Richards expertise in this area was, however, noted and in 1852 the government asked him to make improvements to the Minié rifle for which he was to receive £1,000 from a grateful government and the end product was to be the first Enfield rifle. Westley was, of course, attempting to enter the military field and he did so by entering the trials for the pattern 1853 rifle (P53) due to replace the P51. Following on that a few years later, Westley’s very accurate Monkeytail carbine of 1858 was to become the first breech loading weapon to be adopted by the British government.


Patent number 2506 of 1862, which had originated in Patent 2149 of 1858, the special top lever fastening with its related doll’s head barrel extension, was cutting new ground in the strengthening of the Lefaucheux style of drop-down action and at the same time making its use much more convenient and safer, since it improved the action’s integral strength. Indeed the combination of top lever and doll’s head is still considered to be one of the strongest forms of locking available and the principle has been much copied world-wide.


The hinged block rifle of 1868, forerunner of the British government Martini service rifle, and especially the solid-drawn brass cartridge case of 1871 still used world-wide, were further great innovations. The solid drawn metallic cartridge case was particularly important at that moment in history because it enabled the change from single shot to repeating and automatic weapons. The previous paper or coiled brass cases, the latter the invention of John Rigby, whilst suitable for single shot, hand-loaded weapons, were not entirely suitable for bolt action or mechanically loaded actions due to the instability of the case design. The case drawn in one continuous piece from a single slug of brass with no rough edges or inherent weaknesses when under loading compression opened up new design opportunities and has to have had the most far reaching, if perhaps little publicly realised, results of all the Westley Richards’ designs.


The hinged block breech loader, with an action similar to that of the Martini but with the underlever operating in front rather than behind the trigger guard as in the Martini, succeeded the Monkeytail and was developed through a series of patents from 1868 to 1872. It was popular as a sporting rifle and quite a number were sold to South Africa where it was often referred to as the ‘Free State’ Martini. In fact, the pattern of Martini-actioned rifle which was adopted in 1868 as the British service rifle (the Martini Henry) infringed the Westley Richards patents and, as a result, the British government had to pay £45,000 in royalties to the National Arms and Ammunition Company who, at that stage, were the proprietors of the Westley Richards patent.


Accordingly, in his last two years as Managing Director, Westley set up an associated company in 1870 which was known as the Westley Richards Arms & Ammunition Co Ltd. It was situated at Holford Mills, Perry Bar and at Belmont Row, the latter being the premises of the ammunition manufacturer E. & A. Ludlow. During the Franco Prussian War of 1870–71 the new company had to supply the Prussian government with 150,000 Mauser rifles and 100 million cartridges for them. In January 1872, this company was reformed as the National Arms and Ammunition Company. The Westley Richards’ gauges used for the production of that Prussian order were later purchased by WW Greener and remained in their store until 1915, when that company undertook a contract to produce Belgianpattern Mauser rifles. Those same gauges were then put back into production at their Tower factory in Bagot Street


Having been actively involved in running the company since 1840 Westley retired as Managing Director in 1872 but remained as Chairman. In the latter years of his father’s life he had been assisted in the management of the business by his half brother Charles Richards, who had involved himself with the office rather than the gunmaking side of the business.


When he retired Westley appointed John Deeley to the position of Managing Director but he also ensured that his friend and co-director C Couchman remained on the board, a link which was to remain until the latter died in 1886 when Westley asked his cousin Henry Richards to become a director. Henry was a leading partner in the old family mercantile firm of Theophilus Richards & Co, which had continued after the gunmaking side had closed in 1833. Henry remained on the board of Westley Richards until 1911 when, at the age of 87 he resigned, being the last member of the family involved. It was fitting and perhaps intended that Henry’s resignation should mark 100 years of family involvement. On his retirement Westley went back to live at Ashwell Hall at Oakham in Rutland where he became a Magistrate and later High Sheriff of theCounty in 1880 until his death on 26th May 1897 at the age of 83.
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Westley Richards’ old High Street shop.








John Deeley the Elder joined Westley Richards & Co. in 1860, initially as an accountant. He was born in 1825, the son of a steel toy polisher and had a variety of experiences as a workshop boy in the brass casting and button trades, a silk mercer’s clerk, a shop man, cashier and an accountant. All of this led him to self-education because he had been forced into work at the early age of nine with, consequently, minimal formal schooling.


Five years after he joined the firm, the founder, William Westley Richards, died and the business came under the official control of the founder’s son Westley and his half brother Charles Richards. Six years later when Charles died, John Deeley became sole commercial manager and director of affairs under Westley Richards. It was 1871 and he was still only 46 years of age. In his eleven years with the business he had obtained a masterly grasp of its affairs. He also learned a great deal about firearms, so that when Westley Richards retired in 1872, John Deeley became the Managing Director and sole controller.


The firm had never been content to just make the gun that every other trader could offer. The founding policy, ‘To make as good a gun as can be made’, or, ‘To make a better gun’, remained the motto and so they always aimed to go one better than the best. Deeley indeed went one better and in 1873, in conjunction with James Simeon Edge the Younger, a mechanical engineer who was foreman of the company’s sporting and military rifle department, obtained a patent for a falling block rifle action, No. 1422 of 19th April 1873. known as the Deeley-Edge rifle, which both simplified and was more compact than the then current falling block and single loading hinged block rifles. By the same joint grant they further added to this by bringing out their patent fore-end fastener, also known as the Deeley-Edge, and from then onwards continued to bring out inventions aiming to perfect the firearms of the day


Westley Richards’ retirement in 1872 meant the loss of a firm controlling hand on the subsidiary company, of which Lord Lichfield was then chairman. John Deeley, accordingly, went onto the board. The Westley Richards’ Arms & Ammunition Company also took on sub-contract work from other firms.


The W.R.A.A. Co. as such was, however, to be short-lived. It was under-capitalised for the tasks it was set and, in January 1872, it was decided that it should be re-born as the N.A.A.Co Ltd. That company took forward the ongoing business, such as the N.S.W/Henry contracts already referred to, and is also believed to have made ammunition for the Braendlin Armoury Company Ltd., which was set up c.1871. However, the N.A.A.Co. could never really get in on the Birmingham Small Arms (B.S.A.) and London Small Arms (L.S.A.) Companies’ virtual monopoly of the Government business. Although it did supply the gun trade with Martini Henry rifles and spare parts, without the major government orders it was facing a virtually impossible struggle. Winding-up was started in 1882 and finally took place in 1896. For practical purposes work had ground to a halt by the late 1880s.


John Deeley the elder, not content with his heavy burden of business responsibilities, did not rest on his laurels with the falling block designs but continued the quest for firearms’ perfection. This resulted in what is arguably the best known of all the inventions to come from the Westley Richards’ factory the joint patent of Deeley senior and William Anson, who was foreman of the gun action department, and was registered as Pat. No. 1756 of 1875. It was for a gun action, one of the earliest to use the leverage of the barrels on opening to cock the locks, it greatly simplified the mechanism by cutting down the number of components by fifteen, whilst at the same time doing away with the need for external hammers. In his Centenary address to the staff in 1912, Deeley stated that he had conceived the principle for the mechanism but that Anson, who had died in 1895, had then worked out the design.


The Anson & Deeley action, also referred to as the A. & D., Boxlock or, in early days, Body Action or Body Lock, also possessed great strength when properly constructed. It became the preferred action, used by many discerning gunmakers for double rifles of the heavier calibres in conjunction with the Westley Richards’ doll’s head top extension because of the combination of strength, reliability and simplicity.


John Deeley’s son John was a very keen and expert rifle shot, indeed he several times represented his country in the English Shooting Eight. His activities on the target shooting side brought him into close contact with both Sir Henry Halford Bt., the famous rifle shot from Wistow in Leicestershire, and William Metford, the celebrated inventor of the Metford rifling system and bullet later to be used by the British government for their military service rifle. As a result of the link with Metford, Westley Richards was able to use this, at that stage, advanced rifling system fourteen years before the British government and supplied many rifles equipped with it to the foremost target and sporting shooters of the day.


John Deeley senior continued the firm’s involvement with military rifles and when the Lee-actioned magazine rifle, which had won the 1888 trials, was adopted for the British service, his inventive skills were to be called on. Shortly after the new rifle came into use, it was discovered that the bolt head was of a faulty design and tended to break up under heavy usage. Deeley was able to redesign the offending component so successfully that it overcame the problem and saved the rifle. His screw-in design was to be the basis of that used until the last Lee-Enfield rifles were phased out of service over a hundred years later. A grateful government awarded him £3,000 for his invention, a considerable sum when you consider it was then almost fifty times the price of a best gun. Although his health was deteriorating, John Deeley senior lived to see the centenary of the business in 1912.


Leslie Bown Taylor was born in 1863 and educated at King Edward’s School, Birmingham. When, as a 17-year old, he first joined the Westley Richards’ business in 1880, he arrived as the first Boer War was still in progress. It was to be brought to an end the following year by an Armistice resulting from the defeat of the British forces by the Boers at the battle of Majuba Hill on 27th February 1881.


Many of the Boers were armed with Westley Richards’ Monkey Tails and Free State Martinis, which found great favour with them as well as with the Martini Henry and early Mauser rifles and carbines. That there was still a demand in South Africa for the Monkey Tail even in the 1880s and after the end of the first Boer War is some measure of the high regard in which it was held. Strangely, and perhaps largely due to a combination of bad communications, bureaucratic secrecy and diplomatic bungling, the British Government and nation seems to have remained almost completely unaware of what was really going on in South Africa.


On 22nd June 1895, a provisional agreement was reached with Beckett & Co of Pretoria for them to be the Company’s agent in South Africa and six military rifles were sent to them as samples. The formal agreement for the Agency was signed on 30th July of that year. On 18th January of the following year, Hill & Paddon, London agents for Becketts’, asked for a quote for 10,000 Francotte Martini rifles. Although the contract was not formally confirmed until 22nd July, it is clear that supplies started before then, as 900 had already been delivered by that date and 400 more were to be ready by the end of July. This order for the South African Republic (Zuid Afrika Republiek or Z.A.R. for short) meant that extra work and storage space was required, which was obtained at the rear of No. 30, High Street. Supplies continued throughout 1896 and, by 10th December, 4,200 had been supplied to the Z.A.R. with another 800 by the end of that month. Thereafter, it was proposed to supply the balance at the rate of 1,200 per month. No mention is made in the minute book of the additional order for 450 rifles and 2,000 carbines, which had been tacked on to the first order in April 1896, but on 7th April 1897 a licence was signed whereby Auguste Francotte allowed Westley Richards to manufacture his pattern of Martini Henry on the basis that Francottes supplied all the actions.


Leslie Taylor was working his way up through the company as many of these events took place on the African continent. By the year 1894, he had already been promoted to Company Manager and was living at Speedwell House, Pershore Road, Birmingham when the war broke out in 1899. He became Managing Director on John Deeley the elder vacating that position the same year, but remaining on as Chairman. Taylor would, therefore, have been involved directly in the 1896 orders for the Martinis.


Whilst the Boers were arming themselves with Mauser rifles from Germany, Westley Richards were also importing from the same makers. When the Mauser C.96 (Broomhandle) semi-automatic pistol was put into production, they marketed it in the United Kingdom. Although Broomhandle Mausers are to be found bearing many different British gunmakers’ names, they were apparently all originally imported by Westley Richards and then wholesaled out to those various retail outlets, either left plain or suitably engraved, in accordance with the retailers’ requirements. In the case of early direct retail sales by Westleys themselves, in many cases there was no engraving at all and only later were pistols, and the carbines based on the pistol mechanism, mainly marked either ‘WESTLEY RICHARDS & CO LONDON’ or ‘WESTLEY RICHARDS & CO’. Occasionally also the word ‘LTD’ and sometimes the letter ‘W’ for West, being the postal area, after ‘London’ was added. On 13th October 1897, Westley Richards was granted the sole sales’ agency for the whole of South Africa by the Bergman Patent Pistol Syndicate.


L.B. Taylor was the last of Westley Richards’ management who had served their time under their respective predecessors and thereby not only learned the business but were also thoroughly grounded in its traditions. In 1897, just two years before the handover, Taylor had, in conjunction with Deeley, patented the detachable lock version of the Anson and Deeley action known in the USA as the Droplock. In 1895, the year after Taylor became Company Manager, he would have seen the introduction of John Deeley’s patent single trigger mechanism (No. 21346), which lasted until the introduction in 1901 of the patent single trigger (No. 11062), ostensibly by Taylor but actually the invention of Lard. This, in turn, was to be displaced by Taylor’s own patent single trigger of 1909 (No. 26659).


It was really quite amazing, bearing in mind the increasing complexity of design and variations in calibres and styles, that the old High Street factory was able to cope for as long as it did with the necessary increase in production. Eventually, at the end of the 19th Century and shortly before his retirement, John Deeley Senior and Leslie Taylor both realised changes had to be made. They purchased a block of land at Bournbrook and Selly Oak, then in Worcestershire but now taken into greater Birmingham, and proceeded to build a brand new factory together with the necessary office accommodation and the added luxury of an in-house gun and rifle testing range. There were workshops for machinery as well as benches for the traditional craftsmen to work their magic fashioning wood and metal into the highest quality firearms of the day.


The new factory was built by Halls of Coventry at a cost of £4,600, whilst the 1898 sale of their High Street premises to a company to construct an arcade from High Street to Corporation Street realised £8,000. An additional 11,800 square yards of land adjoining the new site was acquired from Inde Coope & Co. for £1,500. At that stage the new factory looked out over farm land. With the new factory in place and the High Street premises disposed of, a showroom was opened in Bennett’s Hill to maintain a central retail outlet for the business’ varied products.


George Dawson Deeley, the other son of John Deeley Senior, did not initially work in the gunmaking business although, as a shareholder, he had been attending company meetings since 1888 and was appointed a director on 13th July 1897 in place of the late Westley Richards. He chose instead to become an accountant, was articled to a leading Birmingham firm and, on completing his articles, set up in Birmingham on his own account in 1880. Whilst still in his 40s, G D Deeley gave all this up and, in 1897, took over the financial side of Westley Richards, so leaving Taylor free to run the practical and workshop elements, where his natural talents lay. When in 1913 his father died, he was the natural choice to succeed his father as Chairman.


One of the first decisions he took after his father’s death on 6th July 1913 was to set up the new London gunmaking business of F T Baker Limited. This well respected firm, first established in 1833 by T K Baker and referred to in Col. Peter Hawker’s classic work Instruction to Young Sportsmen, had got into financial difficulties and Frederick Thomas Baker, who was running it himself, was bankrupt. Westley Richards had purchased the goodwill and assets of the old business, then at 29, Glasshouse Street, from Baker’s Trustee in Bankruptcy on 29th April 1913 and, for a short time, Baker himself moved into the Westley Richards’ London shop to look after his old customers. Then, on 15th July of that year, a new limited company was set up with Deeley, Taylor and Charles Gardner, who was Westley Richards’ export manager, as the three new shareholders. Premises were taken on a short lease at 64, Haymarket and a Mr McLoughlin was installed as manager to run it. Within a few months, the outbreak of the 1914–18 war not only took away much of the business but also, as we shall see later, was soon to curtail even Westley Richards’ capacity to operate normally as a gunmaker. When the lease expired in 1916, the business in Haymarket was closed down and was not reopened after the war. Westley Richards still retain the name and rights to the FT Baker business, which until 1960 was recorded in the Birmingham Trade Directories, and are the only gunmakers properly entitled to re-barrel Baker guns using his name.


Of the many noteworthy weapons for which Taylor was responsible in part or whole, other than those already mentioned, the ball and shot guns stand out as being particularly of interest. However, a problem with the ball and shot gun of the day was its accuracy and its effective range, perhaps only around a hundred yards. Taylor, who developed a considerable talent for ballistics and bullet design, quickly saw that the problem lay in the short, rounded design of the solid lead bullets then in use in such weapons and their instability in flight. He realised that, to improve this and thus their range and accuracy they must be better streamlined. This he did by increasing the overall length of the projectile but not its weight. To achieve this he patented a design of bullet with a long, hollow tip which he called the ‘L.T.’ bullet. With this longer bullet, the spin imparted by the rifled choke gave greater stability in flight and consequently a longer accurate range. Westley Richards claimed 3–400 yards could be achieved.


The rifled choke gun was initially introduced by Westley Richards in 1904 and known as the ‘Explora’. Taylor had elongated the normal Paradox style 12-gauge lead bullet so that, with its light metal tip or cap instead of the original .982 inch, it was stretched to being almost half as long again at 1.42 inch. The Explora was available in 8, 10, 12 and 16 gauge models. As a result of the success of the Explora a small gauge version was quickly introduced the same year and called the ‘Fauneta’. It was available in 20 and 28 gauge and was ideal for casual shooting for the pot around camp but, at the same time, its heavy L.T. bullet could put down large horned game if the occasion required it. Since it was approximating to the performance of the old .450 Express at short to medium range, it had considerable stopping power, or as an old friend in the trade once remarked to the Author ‘It would certainly make your eyes water and then some!’


As a result of the demand for the popular Explora and requests for an even more powerful version, Taylor brought out the Magnum or Super Magnum Explora in 1909 with a longer case, heavier charge and increased muzzle velocity using the same bullet weight but with a new, more pointed patent design. This design was adapted to the Fauneta ammunition as well. Never content with standing still in commercial terms, in the early years of the 20th Century Leslie Taylor was also exercising his mind in a different direction. This was the shotgun with the superposed barrels; or over and under as it is most commonly called. This type of barrel configuration had been used back in the flintlock period, but its special technical problems in relation to the breechloader and the additional costs involved had relegated it until the fashionable makers, looking for novelty to boost their sales at the start of the century, brought it to the forefront. Boss & Co produced their designs in 1909, Woodward in 1913 and Westley Richards their ‘Ovundo’ in 1914 with their patents 8853 and 9410. Just as production was getting under way the Great War of 1914–18 interposed and that terrible conflict, which was to change the world forever, dragged on for four long years.


In the early days of the War Westley Richards Sporting Gun Trade was shut down. They received an urgent order from the Government to convert 10,000 Service Rifles to a modern type for army use. Running concurrently with the above, a further contract was placed for some thousands of rifles to have new barrels made and fitted and converted to another type. They supplied complete Rifle Barrels – the two sight beds (or shoes), and the complete back Sight and Spring, and Blade foresight – a big undertaking, entailing several thousand machine operations besides delicate hand work and had to pass the strictest Government view.


Additionally they had large quantities of damaged rifles being salvaged from the various battle fronts and sent back to be repaired and renewed and made fit for service again. Every rifle saved in that way was equivalent to a new rifle manufactured and the armies grew faster than the rifles could be produced. Counting all the rifles dealt with during the War close to 200,000 were stripped and converted or repaired, overhauled and done up as new and shot at their grounds in addition to manufacturing well over 100,000 each of rifle barrels, sights, beds, etc.


The pressures on the workforce and the need for skilled men resulted in all available craftsmen being drafted into the factory. War work, finishing off agreed contracts, in fact continued until 1920 although sporting gun production had by then restarted as well. In 1920, young Charles Eaves joined the company and was to remain with them, apart from a period starting in the 1930s’ slump, until just after the war. He retired in the early 1980s by when he was their longest serving craftsman and expert barrel jointer.


With the savage contraction of the workforce in 1920 and the general post-war depression, an unexpected and welcome opportunity for business arose. This was to be the heyday of the visits by the fabulously wealthy Rulers of the Indian Princely States. Westley Richards took full advantage of the opportunities this influx presented. Although they supplied weapons to many of the great Indian families, their two most loyal customers were the Maharajahs of Alwar and Patiala. They had nothing but Westley Richards’ rifles.


The 1930s took their toll. Leslie Taylor, the Managing Director died on 22nd September 1930 and his place was taken by the export manager, Charles Gardener. In 1933 Henry Payne, originally from Cogswell & Harrison, who had done much of the development work on the Ovundo, and had been works’ manager during the war, was killed getting off a tram at luncheon time ‘after a few drinks’, according to the memory of a fellow worker of the time.


During WWII the labour force was increased and they were set to work manufacturing 4-inch smoke dischargers and assembling Short Magazine Lee Enfield (SMLE) rifles from components produced by other manufacturers or from cannibalisation of sound parts from unserviceable rifles. In addition, repairs and complete rebuilds of SMLE rifles were undertaken but they did not handle the new No. 4 rifle. Those weapons Westley Richards did make up bore the business’ production code stamp M268. These codes were allocated to government controlled factories during WWII on a regional basis. Those in the North had an ‘N’ prefix, the Midlands an ‘M’ and the South an ‘S’. Throughout all this Mr. Charles Gardener was still in charge as Managing Director but died in early 1947. After the death of Douglas Haines on 26th July 1943, Gardener had been the last of the ‘Old Guard’ management in Birmingham and in 1945 had been elected Chairman of the Guardians of the Birmingham Proof House. As a result of the Company’s then bad financial state, it was put up for sale.


Such was the situation when Captain E D (Ted) Barclay bought the company from the liquidator in 1946 and formed a private company, paying £15,000 plus a guarantee for an overdraft of a similar amount. He got what he paid for. Those were indeed hard times. At the Bournbrook factory, Mr Dangerfield, the old company’s book-keeper, was the only ‘management’ in sight. An ancient grandson of John Deeley Senior, he kept the works’ order book with a quill pen, on a high stool. There was no works’ manager, no foreman, no inspector. There were five old belt-driven machines, but no machinists. Work was at a near standstill. The workshops were gas lit. At the Birmingham shop, an eccentric individual called Mr Fisk presided. He had been shop assistant under the late Mr Haines. A great fisherman and friend of the Hardy Bros., Haines had been responsible for the branch’s fishing tackle trade.


When the excellent Mr Dangerfield died. It was a serious setback. No one remained on the staff who knew a thing about the company’s affairs. For works’ manager, they found 50-year old Alan H. Thorn, a shop assistant at Grant & Lang in London, whose brother George died tragically in a shooting accident at their London shop, and who was the youngest son by a second marriage of HAA Thorn ‘Mr Charles Lancaster’ and the author of ‘the Art of Shooting’. He knew guns and how to sell them, but nothing about making them. He tried valiantly but was no match for the wily old rogues in the workshop. Jack Lilley, the barrel filer and a hard man, considered poor Thorn so ignorant he forbade him entry into the barrel shop. Jim Howell, the single trigger man, who made all the trigger parts from solid strip with his own hand jigs, refused to work if Thorn or indeed any of the men were nearby. He took his jigs and tools with him into retirement and, in the end, the company bought them back from his widow.


In 1947, the Chairman of United Whalers Ltd., Sir Vyvyan Board, who was concerned about the cruelty of whale harpooning, learned that a German had made some pre-war trials using electrified rather than explosive harpoons and he approached G.E.C. to pursue this line of work. Experiments with electric whaling harpoons had also been carried out in Norway in the 1920s. Sir Vyvyan sought a collaborator for the development of the gunnery and, via the Gunmakers’ Association, circulated the gun trade. Westley Richards were the only respondents. The cost-plus development contract they were able to get from Sir Vyvyan gave them good profits for several years. Progress was slow because of the difficulty of getting at whales for trials and some lack of co-operation from the traditional whaling trade. Roy Hill, who was a research engineer on the project at the time, said that, technically, they developed the project to the stage where the harpoons worked and could be used, but that, commercially, the project did not take off.


In 1957, shortly after the sale of Conduit Street to Malcolm Lyell to run the Westley Richards (Agency) Co., Captain Barclay was forced into the realisation that he could not go on financing Westley Richards. He was then fairly old and wished to dispose of his shareholding. He sold his shares to Captain Walter Clode.


One result of the sale of the London end of the business, which had not been foreseen by any of the parties on the split in 1956, meant that when Malcolm Lyell joined Holland & Holland in 1959 the Agency, which had been intended to operate loosely as a London outlet for the Bournbrook Head Office, albeit under independent ownership and direction, fell into the hands of a major competitor and the terms of the Agency agreement also prevented Head Office from setting up their own alternative outlet. Only when Lyell left Holland & Holland in 1984 and the Agency arrangements terminated, was it possible to do this.


So it was only in 1986 Westley Richards were finally able to start up an independent London Agency arrangement based at the gunshop set up by Swaine, Adeney & Brigg, the well-known high quality umbrella and leather goods shop in their long-established premises No. 186 on the South side of Piccadilly. This gunshop was under the management of Nick Louca, who had previously been shop manager for Cogswell & Harrison at 168, Piccadilly for nine years and is the brother of Michael Louca, the Managing Director of Watson Bros.


However, in 1989, Swaine, Adeney & Brigg wanted out of that side of the business and Nick Louca took it over himself, until he closed it down in October 1990. During the latter part of his occupation, he was assisted by Alfred Bedford, formerly the London Proofmaster for many years and naturally extremely knowledgeable on all matters relating to ballistics and loads for rifles and shotguns. Whilst setting up the London Agency, Westley also took the opportunity at the same time to set one up with John Dickson & Son at their Frederick Street premises in Edinburgh.


Walter Clode the new owner was born in 1929 into a military family serving in India and his early years were spent there. His father died when he was 18. His solicitor, Edmund Sargeant, who had been a fellow member of the Court of the Merchant Taylors’ Company with his father, and who was later to be knighted as President of the Law Society in 1968 advised Walter that he had insufficient capital to remain in the 10th Royal Hussars which was then considered an expensive cavalry regiment with a number of children to bring up. He suggested that he should resign his commission and invest in a business and expand what little was left of the family wealth. It was this advice that lead to the purchase of a majority share in Westley Richards.


Between them Mr Rogers, nephew-in-law of Captain Barclay and Managing Director at the time, and Mr Clode developed and expanded both the gunmaking and, in particular, the by now very sophisticated toolmaking business. The rapid rise in costs of both skilled labour, itself in very short supply, and raw materials when they could be obtained, meant that many if not all in the trade were making a loss on any new weapons supplied. With all this going on, competitors in a similar position were each afraid to raise prices to a proper level for fear of losing out to their rivals. As the result of a combination of these and other factors, many in the trade either closed down or amalgamated. Even then some of the latter only managed to keep their heads above water for a few more years.


When Mr Rogers retired in 1972, Mr Clode then became Managing Director. Thus, by 1974, with the demise of the Indian Princes and their armouries, Walter Clode was once more forced to concentrate on building up Westley Richards as a company. He decided to pour all available resources into the engineering side of the business. The gunshop in Bennett’s Hill, Birmingham, had already been closed c.1960 and a factory showroom opened instead at Bournbrook. The Manager of the engineering side at the time Walter Clode arrived was Mr Wheeler, who was about to retire. So Denis Hazleton, who had been there a long time and was working in the drawing office as a press tool designer, was asked to take over. He was very successful and built the press tool business from a turnover of £2,000 to over £1,000,000 p.a.


Stuart Creswell had joined the firm at the age of 16 as an assistant at the Bennett’s Hill shop under Mr Lemon, who was then the Shop Manager. When the shop closed, Mr Lemon went to the factory as Company Secretary and Stuart Creswell was put in charge of the factory showroom. He ran the gun and rifle side until 1986 when tragically, and only in his forties, he died after suffering a massive heart attack at the shooting school.


At the age of 58, Walter Clode was faced with an ageing management structure. Denis Hazleton was anxious to retire at 60, but no obvious successor could be found. They needed to find a successor or sell up. Fortunately, Walter Clode’s son Simon, a deep sea diver in the oil industry, and then in his thirties, decided to join the firm in 1987.


It was thus possible to change the structure of the Company. In the same way that Denis Hazleton had come from the design office to the management, so a protege of Denis’s, Gerry Dunne, was promoted from the drawing office and given the management of the press tools division. Simon, who was later appointed Managing Director in May 1992, took over the management of the gun and rifle side and, for the first time in Westley Richards’ long history, a qualified accountant, Lynda Day, became Company Secretary. The management was in the hands of 30 year olds.


In recent times Westley Richards, having realised the value and potential of the market for their high quality goods in the USA, have maintained an agency there. For many years this was based on other gunshops owned by third parties through which their customers could communicate with them, or send guns for repair and maintenance. With effect from 1st January 1997, this was to change and the company set up its own independent organisation under the name of The Westley Richards Agency USA.


Richards, W – Liverpool


It was Jeremiah Patrick who set up as a gunmaker at 36 Lombard Street, Liverpool in 1780 and remained there until 1798/9 when he removed to 47 Old Hall Street. This was to be but a short stop since in 1803/4 he moved the business to 44 Strand Street where it was to remain until 1830. In the interim from 1815–1820 it was run by his son Edward Patrick and then in turn Edward’s daughter Ann was to take over from her father from 1820–1830. The business was then briefly at 10 Pool Lane from 1831–32 at which point the company was taken over by Williams & Powell (not to be confused with William Powell of Birmingham). They remained at that address through 1833 and then moved to 13 South Castle Street from 1834–36. The next address was 29 South Castle Street from 1837–1859 and then finally at 25 South Castle Street from 1860–1870 when the business was taken over by W Richards. The actual partnership between Williams & Powell had lasted until 1846. Williams & Powell continued to be recorded at 25 South Castle Street for many years so presumably the name was kept going at that address as a kind of branch outlet.


The earliest date we have for the Preston Branch of the W Richards business is 1820 when it was at premises at 44 Fishgate, which were retained until 1850 when it removed to 6a Lune Street, Preston, premises that were to be kept until 1965 when that branch of the business closed down. When the takeover of Williams & Powell by W Richards, often wrongly confused with Westley Richards of Birmingham, occurred in 1870 their Liverpool premises from that date until 1909 were at 27 Old Hall Street, after which they removed to 1 Tithe Barn Street until 1917. In 1913 it had become W Richards (Liverpool) Ltd. From 1917–1957 the business was established at Mellors Buildings, 30 Exchange East, Liverpool and during this period their shooting grounds were at Aughton near Ormskirk about 11 miles from Liverpool. The business then moved to 30 Moorfield from 1957 until 1967. The last premises which were occupied from 1967 to the 30th June 1996 were at India Buildings, 42 Brunswick Street, Liverpool and at that date the business finally closed its doors. It was reborn in 2000 when Chris Caine restarted it as W Richards (Gunmaker), Liverpool based in Yorkshire. See Record section for more detail.





Robinson, Robert – Hull


There were several Robinsons who were gunmakers in Hull, Yorkshire in the 19th Century. John, who was recorded at 8 North Church Side in 1847, William who was in business at 4 Thornton Street, Drypool from 1851–1857 and Robert who was reported at 346 Queen Street, in the late 1880s, then in Paragon Street in 1892 before moving to 7 Queen Street. In the late 1940s the move was made to 106 Boothferry Road until 1950 when the last move was made to 265 Anlaby Road. The business is believe to have closed down around 1955. It is not known what the relationship was between the various Robinsons recorded but it seems possible that they may have somehow succeeded each other in view of the sequence of recorded dates. Joe Wheater the famous clay shooter was running the business in later years.


Rosson, C S – Norwich


Charles Rosson (d.1914) was originally from Derby, where he had been working with his brother. There was a Charles Rosson, gunmaker recorded in Warwick from 1859–c.1878, who may have been their father, and a firm of Dobson & Rosson of Market Head, Derby, which was dissolved in July 1886 and which then became Charles Rosson, presumably with his brother. He acquired the Norwich business of Edwin Wilson at 13 Rampant Horse Street in 1905 and turned it into the business of C S Rosson. Edwin Wilson had taken over the business at No. 13 in 1869, apparently from William Cartwright, whose foreman he had been. Earlier still in 1830 a gunmaker by the name of Isaac Walker was recorded in Rampant Horse Street who may have been succeeded by Cartwright’s father Henry. After Cartwright sold his business to Wilson he gained employment in London with Charles Lancaster and remained in his front shop until 1905.


The premises were to remain at Rampant Horse Street until destroyed by enemy bombs in September 1942. Gallyons of Norwich ran the business from their own premises from the 1940s until they were able to hand it back in 1946. Almost twenty years later they were to acquire the business back.


In the mid 1930s, possibly earlier, Rosson’s 30 acre shooting grounds were at Taverham near Drayton about five miles outside Norwich. The Company built a cartridge loading factory there which between 1953–57 was the site for the joint cartridge loading undertaking with Charles Hellis of London which unfortunately was not a great success. As a result Receivers were called in and Darlows of Bedford acquired Rosson’s business and premises which they resold to Gallyon & Sons of Norwich on 1st May 1965.
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Showing Lock Mechanism.

Lovely finish and made either as ejector or non-ejector, this gun represents all that the
most consixcent user can reqire tnd at the price of £(60 ) s the fnest value in the trade.

W. BAKER Patentee & Manfacturer, 7, Bath Street Birmingham.
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OUR NEW MODEL ANSON & DEELEY HAMMERLESS.

With Square Cross Bolt and Side Clips.

This is a very strong action, particularly
suitable for heavy charges.

EVERY GUN TESTED BY AN EXPERT.

A.and D. HAMM] with square cross bolt and side clips (as shown), with high grade steel barrels, auto-
maic safety bolt, well-f € stock, nicely engraved and finished : 830 0 0. Sccond Quality: £35
Superior D 3 Guincas exira.  Automatic Ejector, £6 extra. SR RS 0D

In making Guns to order the cross bolt can be boxed in, i.¢., not projecting through the side of action, if preferred.
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